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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERE

Liu Jian
Chairman and chief executive officer

gl
FRERITBUARE,

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

For and on behalf of the board (the “Board") of directors (the “Directors’,
each a "Director”) of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (the “Company’,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In summary, the key financial performance of the Group over the last year
ended 31 December 2022 included (i) the decrease in property
management business revenue from approximately RMB1,332.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB1,322.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an decrease of
approximately RMB10.0 million, or 0.7%; (i) decrease in revenue generated
from sales assistance services of approximately RMB9.7 million; (iii) increase
in revenue generated from cleaning and greening business of
approximately RMB61.7 million; (iv) decrease in revenue generated from
real estate consulting and agency business of approximately RMB155.2
million; and (v) decrease in revenue generated from other businesses of
approximately RMB58.0 million. Overall, the Group’s 2022 profit attributable
to owners of the parent amounted to RMB76.9 million (2021: RMB106.3
million), representing a decrease of 27.6% as compared to 2021. The
decrease in the Group’s 2022 profit attributable to owners of the parent
was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from real estate consulting and
agency business and other businesses. During 2022, the property
management industry encountered unprecedented challenges, which was
brought by the deteriorated liquidity crisis of the real estate sector in the
People's Republic of China (the “PRC"), accompanied by frequent
recurrence of Covid-19 pandemic as well as slowdowns in overall economy.
They also affected the performance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HKD2.50 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HKD2.50 cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 9 June 2023, making the total dividend
payment of approximately HKD21.3 million.

OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management company in
China. In 2022, the Group received the following recognition and awards.

¥ For identification purpose only
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

In April 2022, the Group received the following recognitions, namely, 2022
RREEYERS NEF L ZE (2022 Residential Property Service
< 20227 Bl EE BRI B SR 1B
2 (2022 Top 100 Property Management Companies in China*) + 2022
BV EEIRITEMIS(LEEBEMZE (2022 Leading Enterprise in
Market-Oriented Operation in China’s Property Management Industry in
China*) from A BI4§ T 5EBR (China Index Academy*) and 1t R IE{E
BEIMFCR (Beijing Zhongzhi Information Technology Research

Capability Exceptional Companies in China*)

Institute®).

In September 2022, the Group received the following recognitions, namely,
2022 S H 98 > (2022 Blue Chop Property Top 100 Company®) *
ELFRRFE J112 % (Excellent Service Provided Company*) from #& /BRI
R (The Economic Observer®).

In December 2022, the Group received the following recognitions, namely,
2022 BHERANE R Y E R mE RS (2022 Property Service Brand
Enterprise in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area*) * 20224
BREMERGEE AELSEEMNLERE REBRE (2022
Property Service Enterprises “Social Responsibility and Social Employment”
Outstanding Contribution Award in Guangdong Province*) ~ 2022/ 8R4
WERELEABEET NNDE (2022 Property Service Comprehensive
Development Strength Enterprise in Guangdong Province®) + 2022 E 8 &
VI ZEITEFIF R RIE L5058 (2022 Top 50 New Media Construction
and Operation in the Property Industry in Guangdong Province*) + 20224
ERERMFETRITEIZLEMZE (2022 Guangdong Property
Management Industry Anti-epidemic Pioneer Enterprise®) from ERE )
HEIBITEWE (Guangdong Property Management Industry Institute*).

In December 2022, the Group received the award, 2022 EM BB Z4)
¥BESEF2REN ( RARFHMIEEESR ) (Excellent Exhibitor
of Guangzhou International Smart Property Expo (Most Competmve Brand
) from BEMNBEIREEMEEESA

International Smart Property Expo Committee™).

Value Award)* & (Guangzhou

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had maintained its presence in 44
cities in China where it was contracted to manage a total of 631 residential
properties and non-residential premises such as commercial or
government buildings with an aggregate contracted Gross Floor Area
("GFA") of 70.0 million square meters (“sg.m.”). That remained roughly the
same compared to the aggregate contracted GFA of 72.3 million sq.m. as
of 31 December 2021. In relation to the delivered GFA of 64.4 million sg.m.
in 2022, which was similar to the delivered GFA of 66.1 million sg.m. as at
31 December 2021.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to maintain its own advantage as
an independent property management company, competing with
counterparts in the market by its high quality service and operation
efficiency, actively establishing stable partnership with leading property
developers in all regions, exploring potential new development projects
and pursuing properties which have established owners” associations.
When right opportunities arise, the Group will accelerate its expansion of
business scope and coverage in China through acquisition of property
management companies and other value adding service companies which
provide services related to communities.

In addition, we will closely persist in the philosophy of stable development
by gradually expanding the upstream and downstream industry chain, as
well as strategically realigning our industry foothold. On the one hand, we
expect to penetrate into the first-hand and second-hand agency services,
while further advancing the downstream sector of the industry chain by
acquiring firms specialized in living value adding services. In the next few
years, we will gradually ride on our strength to extend our reach along the
upstream and downstream of the industry chain with a focus on property
management. In doing so, the Group will ultimately evolve into an
integrated operator offering the whole-industry community services.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere thanks to every
shareholder, and also to every employee for their hard work and
contribution to the Group over last year. In the coming year, the Group will
continue its active expansion of business and enhance its property
management service quality, so as to bring a better, more enjoyable and
more satisfying experience for home life to residents. With the continuous
efforts of the Group, | believe that the Group will bring good returns to its
shareholders in the long term.

Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 April 2023
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

&j;‘\“ oh
MBERHE
For the year ended
31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000 Change
ARBT T ARBTFT e

Revenue e 1,702,395 1,873,533 -9.1%

Gross profit E7 357,355 432,739 -17.4%

Profit for the year FRE A 89,050 132,039 -32.6%

Profit attributable to owners BRREER AELRT

of the parent 76,907 106,282 -27.6%

Gross profit margin (%) EFE (%) 21.0% 23.1% -2.1% pp

AR =R

Net profit margin (%) 4l R K (%) 5.2% 7.0% -1.8% pp

188 E 7 B

Basic earnings per share (RMB) FREREBR (AEEIT) 0.09 0.124 -27.6%

Final dividend per share (HKD) BRARERE (BT 0.025 0.025 %

PRIREEERATF
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
HEHRE

Revenue Gross profit and gross profit margin
& EFRERZE
(RMB million) (RMB million/%)
(AREEET) (ARBEBET %)
2,000
1,800 R 1654 1,702.4
2379 R
1600 . 138.0 252
153
483 e 231
1,400 1550 267 21
303
- 836 500
1,200 e 4327
1,000 400 3574
800 300
13321 1,322.1
600 2522
200
400
100
200
0 0
2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022
1 Property [ Cleaning and greening business
management services B2 R ER
P
MRERRY B Real estate agency
W sale Assistance business
services FEHERIZED
g e B Other business
Hh %

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the company
RAREE AR, (B8)

(RMB million)
(ARBEBEET)

140
120

100

10

1315

106.3

76.9

2020 2021

2022

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MHERE

Total assets Total equity
EEAE AR
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AREBET) (ARBEBEET)
2,500 1,000 983.1 986.9
2,187.5 891.4
2,069.5
2,000 1,957.1 800
1,500 600
1,000 400
500 200
0 0
2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022
Total Contracted GFA Average price of property management service
BMENEEEEME MEEERKE T IER
(million sgq.m.) (RMB/sg.m./month)
(BBFHXK) (AREE /KA
80 20
72.0 723 70.0 1.81 1.81 1.81
70
. ol . 62 5.6
60 1.5
50
40 1.0
66.1 64.4
30 656
20 0.5
10
0 0
2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022
B Undelivered GFA I Delivered GFA
RRNEEREE BRfREEE
Note: B 5T

1. Itis calculated as a weighted average of all the prices and fees specified on 1.
the contracts that are generating revenue as of the end of each relevant

year, excludes management fees for parking lots.

ERERBFERDEERENANTANMEER
REROINETHERSE  ETEEFEESNERE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERE AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management company in
China.

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 25 November
2021, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire the remaining 49%
equity interests in BREIGIRE T2 ER A7) (Guangdong Huarui
Environmental Engineering Company Limited*) (“Guangdong Huarui").
Upon completion in March 2022, Guangdong Huarui became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group and the Group continues to provide value
adding cleaning services to the property projects and bring synergy effects
to the existing property management service of the Group.

On 16 March 2022, BR B EEEFR A 7] (Guangdong Zhong Ao
Property Management Company Limited*) ("Guangdong Zhong Ao"), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the vendor entered
into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which Guangdong Zhong
Ao conditionally agreed to purchase, and the vendor conditionally agreed
to sell, the remaining 30% of the equity interest in &SR EE T IFIMH
fR 2 7] (Guangdong Xunhua Electrical Engineering Technology Company
Limited*) ("Guangdong Xunhua") for a total cash consideration of RMB25
million. Upon completion in May 2022, Guangdong Xunhua became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Guangdong Xunhua is
principally engaged in engineering, ventilation system and maintenance
service in the PRC.

In 2022, the Group received the following recognition and awards.

In April 2022, the Group received the following recognitions, namely, 2022
FEEEWERS NEF T (2022 Residential Property Service
Capability Exceptional Companies in China*) + 20227 BI¥ 2 iR 7% B 8 1
2 (2022 Top 100 Property Management Companies in China*) + 20225
B EIRITEMIG(LEEBEMZE (2022 Leading Enterprise in
Market-Oriented Operation in China’s Property Management Industry in
China*) from A BIFE &R (China Index Academy*) and 1t RH3E(E
BHEAMTAAFEPT (Beijing Zhongzhi Information Technology Research
Institute®).

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In September 2022, the Group received the following recognitions, namely,
2022 EEEY)E B 582 (2022 Blue Chop Property Top 100 Company*)

EWFIRTE % (Excellent Service Provided Company?®) from 4875 &5 %%
¥R (The Economic Observer*).

In December 2022, the Group received the following recognitions, namely,
2022 BERAEE Y ERB MR (2022 Property Service Brand
Enterprise in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area*) » 20224F
BREMERBEE RECSEEH I ERE RE BRI 2022
Property Service Enterprises “Social Responsibility and Social Employment”
Outstanding Contribution Award in Guangdong Province®) * 2022/B&R &
VEREELEERERE N E (2022 Property Service Comprehensive
Development Strength Enterprise in Guangdong Province®) ~ 2022 R4
PIEITEFN IR RIE L5058 (2022 Top 50 New Media Construction
and Operation in the Property Industry in Guangdong Province*) » 20224
EREREMEERITENZLEME (2022 Guangdong Property
Management Industry Anti-epidemic Pioneer Enterprise*) from ER &)
¥ BIR1TEWE (Guangdong Property Management Industry Institute®).

In December 2022, the Group received the award, 2022 BN ERE 29
¥EESEFL2REN ( ZARF IREEEL ) (Excellent Exhibitor
of Guangzhou International Smart Property Expo (Most Competitive Brand

) from BEMEBIREZMEEEGZHZE (Guangzhou
International Smart Property Expo Committee®).

Value Award)*

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total contracted gross floor area
("GFA") of approximately 70.0 million square meters (“sq.m.”) where it was
contracted to manage 631 properties across 44 cities in China.

The Group's main business line is property management business. Under
the property management business line, the Group is engaged in the
provision of property management services, provision of sales assistance
services, provision of cleaning and greening services, provision of real
estate consulting and agency services and other services.

B E ST
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MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

The Group primarily provides property developers and property owners
with a broad range of property management services to mainly residential
properties, commercial and government buildings. Services provided by
the Group include standard property management services and also
ancillary services such as cleaning, gardening, security guard, repair and
maintenance and butler services. Through its butler services, the Group
provides personalised and premium property management services to
residents with its trained butlers onsite. While its primary and long-term
business focus is on the residential property market, the Group also
provides services to non-residential properties, including both stand-alone
non-residential properties and properties associated with residential
properties, such as schools and commercial buildings.

The Group believes that service quality is fundamental to establish a solid
foundation to support the growth of the Group’s business. The Group
holds various qualifications and licenses in respect of property
management services, namely CMS31950, IEC27001, ISO50001, ISO 9001,
ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had maintained its presence in 44
cities in China where it was contracted to manage a total of 631 residential
properties and non-residential premises such as commercial or
government buildings with an aggregate contracted GFA of approximately
70.0 million sg.m. This represents a decrease of 3.2% compared to the
aggregate contracted GFA of approximately 72.3 million sq.m. as at 31
December 2021. In relation to the delivered contracted GFA of
approximately 64.4 million sgq.m. as at 31 December 2022, it represented a
decrease of approximately 2.6% compared to the delivered contracted GFA
of approximately 66.1 million sg.m. as at 31 December 2021.

The Group strives to develop new business relationships from its existing
customer base and network in order to provide strong organic growth to
the Group. In addition to organic growth, the Group continues to identify
appropriate acquisition targets to strengthen its portfolio and increase
geographic presence across China.

GEOGRAPHIC PRESENCE

The Group will continue to strategically select markets to enter into, focus
on those with more developed economies and comparatively high per
capita GDP. Once the Group has established presence in a new city, it will
seek to expand its business within the same city or neighboring cities with
a view to maximising its economies of scale.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB wm AT

The map below illustrates the cities in which properties the Group was T EIEBBAR 20224 12 A 31 B ARE BT 4EIBHY
contracted to manage were located and the number of projects in each 2RI T R I HHIE B &8 -
city as of 31 December 2022.

Eastern and Central China

ERREF

Southern China

2=
Northern China
et
Western China
Eiii
Eastern and Central China FERKFEH
1. Changde (1) &1&(1) 10.  Kaifeng (2) FAE(Q2) 19.  Wenzhou (8) EM(8)
2. Chongging3) EE(3) 11.  Nantong (15 RIiB(15) 200 Wuxi(7) fEEB7)
3. Chuzhou (3) 3B/ (3) 12, Nanyang (1) FaPf&z(1) 21.  Xuancheng ) EH(2)
4. Fuyang(l) EBBZ() 13.  Ningbo (316) ZEJK(316) 22, Yanan(2) EZ(Q)
5, Hangzhou (57)  #1Ml (57) 14.  Quzhou (6) )M (6) 23, Yueyang (1) HEBZ()
6. Heze (4) SWNZE (4) 15.  Shanghai (19) _E/&(19) 24, Zhenjiang 3) $EI(3)
7. Huaian (1) % (1) 16.  Shaoxing (6) #AZE(6) 25.  Zhoukou (1) A1)
8 Huanggang (1) FH (1) 17. Suzhou (43) &Ml (43)
9 Huzhou (17) 81 (17) 18.  Taizhou(2) AIME)
Southern China %7
26 Cenxi(9) 29X(9) 31, Guilin(@) HEME) 36.  Sanya(7) =EB(7)
27.  Chongzuo 2) 57 (2) 32, Jiangmen (2) JIF9(2) 37.  Wenchang (1) XE&(1)
28 Foshan (20) f#B1LI(20) 33, Llaibin(3) REQ) 38 Wuzhou (9) #BM(9)
29.  Guangzhou (12) &M (12) 34, Nanning (19) B2 (19) 39.  Zhaoging 3) ZEE(3)
30.  Guigang (1) & () 35, Qingyuan (4) JB#E @)
40. Baotou (7) REE(7) 42, Tianjin (1) X2 (1)
41, Beijing (1) dEm(1) 43.  Zhangjiakou 3) K{ZXRH (3)

44 Lhasa(1) FIFE(Q)

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent the number of contracted projects. MEE - BRI OEBE HE -
PREREEERDA 1 5
20225 5



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B S AT

The table below sets forth the delivered contracted GFA and the number

of properties under management as of the dates indicated.

ERYEHE -

As of 31 December 2022
72022612 H31H

TREINARARZERNEHNEEEERE

As of 31 December 2021
202112 831 H

Sg.m. in Sa.m. in

thousands No. thousands No.
T 5K 2B FFEAHK B

Residential properties FEYE
Eastern and Central China” FERLFEHO 42,198 333 44,560 344
Southern China®? FEE 13,967 72 13,872 66
Northern China® FEHEO 2,168 9 2,095 8
Western China® FEPH@ 108 1 - -
Subtotal /et 58,441 415 60,527 418
Non-residential properties FEEEYE 5,967 150 5611 147
Total et 64,408 565 66,138 565

As of 31 December 2022, the Group's contracted GFA of undelivered
properties amounted to approximately 6.0 million sg.m. (2021: 6.1 million

sq.m.)

Notes:

BEE

(1) Including Changde, Chongqing, Chuzhou, Fuyang, Hangzhou, Heze, Huaian, (M
Huanggang, Huzhou, Kaifeng, Nantong, Ningbo, Quzhou, Shanghai,
Shaoxing, Suzhou, Taizhou, Wenzhou, Wuxi, Xuancheng, Yueyang and

Zhenjiang.

() Including Cenxi, Chongzuo, Foshan, Guangzhou, Guilin, Jiangmen, Nanning, @)
Qingyuan, Sanya, Wenchang, Wuzhou and Zhaoging.

(3) Including Baotou, Beijing and Zhangjiakou.

(4) Including Lhasa.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group will continue to expand its business through obtaining new
service engagements and acquisition of other property management
companies. The table below indicates the movement of the total
contracted GFA and the number of properties the Group was contracted
to manage during the year.

B E ST

AEBKEEBBFIHRBEHLKREE LY
XEERRMABEER - TREIFRBANE
FEERFTEETOERNMEHENES -

As of 31 December 2022 As of 31 December 2021

7"2022F12A31H 7202112 4318
Sq.m.in Sg.m.in
thousands No. thousands No.

FE 77K 2HE FEFK B
As at beginning of year F9] 72,283 637 72,014 613
New engagements” iR=N O 1,924 38 3,522 58
Terminations®? el (4,207) (44) (3,253) (34)
As at end of year FR 70,000 631 72,283 637
Notes: PRE -
(1) In relation to properties the Group manages, new engagements primarily (1) B ASEMEEMYENS NI EBED

include service engagements for new constructions developed by property
developers and service engagements for residential properties replacing their
existing property management companies.

(2) Including the contracted GFA and the number of properties the Group
ceased to manage, which were primarily due to non-renewal of certain
property management contracts and mutual termination prior to expiration
for commercial reasons.

SALES ASSISTANCE SERVICES

The Group provides property developers with sales assistance services by
deploying on-site staff at the sales centres to maintain the conditions of
the centres and provide timely assistance to facilitate various aspects of the
sales process. The Group generally continues to serve the property
developer clients after the expiration of the sales assistance contracts by
entering into preliminary property management contracts. Sales assistance
serves as an important source of business for the property management
services.

EBERHERNOMBAZRERABNRBEL - R
FEMEERRAANEEERTNRBAL

Q EBEAEETHEENMESHERRELMEE
R#EE  IERTEEETUEEEAHOREAR
ERERNEMATAEE AL -

ih 85 AR %5

AEBRAMEERBRERHFERSE  KEHSE
TRSHEPLMEEROMR - LHHEBREFE
TEBEEE B - —RIERT - AEER HHE
BHERREBI LI NERERENERRY
XERBEPIRERS - B AYMEE ERBE
BEBHNEZRR -

FREAREEERAT 1 7
20224F 7y



MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

CLEANING AND GREENING SERVICES

The Group provides property developers and property owners with a series
of indoor and outdoor environmental cleaning, greening and maintenance.
This business division also provides services to the property developers and
property owners of the property management business division.
Accordingly, segment result of cleaning and greening division is evaluated
by the Group’s management on services as subcontracted from the
property management business division. The Group holds various
qualifications and licenses in respect of cleaning services, namely BIZK —
BIRFEBZRB LD (national level one environmental hygiene
cleaning service qualification®), E315FR 4 = ZE IMIEE S IRFS 1B 3 (F315 A
Grade high-attitude exterior wall cleaning services enterprise¥), ISO 14001,
ISO 9001 and ISO 45001.

REAL ESTATE CONSULTING AND AGENCY
SERVICES

The Group provides property developers and property owners with
consulting and agency services on the leasing of properties.

OTHER BUSINESSES

Other businesses comprise shuttle bus, security guard and maintenance
services in the PRC, engineering services, catering services and the sale of
engineering spare parts.

PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

The Group will continue to maintain its own advantage as an independent
property management company and compete with counterparts in the
market by its high quality service and operational efficiency. The Group will
actively establish stable partnerships with leading property developers
and/or property management service providers in all regions and explore
potential projects under development. The Group will strive to develop
new business relationships from its existing customers base and own
network in order to provide strong organic growth to the Group. The
Group also targets to expand its portfolio of customers by pursuing
properties with established owners’ association. Furthermore, when right
opportunities arise, the Group will accelerate its expansion by expanding
its business scope and coverage in China by means of acquisitions and
cooperation.

—I 8 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW
Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB1,702.4 million, representing a decrease of 9.1% over
the year 2021.

Decrease in the Group’s revenue was primarily attributable to the
decrement in property management business revenue from approximately
RMB1,332.10 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB1,322.10 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
and represented a 0.7% decrease over the corresponding year. In addition,
the Group's revenue generated from sales assistance services has
decreased by approximately RMB9.7 million, from cleaning and greening
business has increased by approximately RMB61.7 million, from real estate
consulting and agency business has decreased by approximately RMB155.2
million and from other businesses has decreased by approximately
RMB58.0 million.

Breakdown of Revenue by business line and services

B E ST

B RS R O R
BE

HZE202F12A318IEFE  AEBRHSKREDN
AR®E17024BETL » 82021 FH AL 9.1% ©

REBWEROFTERRYESTIEER R EHE
E2IFENANBHIEFENARKI321088
TR EEHE202F1N2ABLEEEHNARE
132210887 BEAFRERMA07% - thoh - A
EERERBHRZ RO OARB T BET B
BRECEBHREEMDARE 7BEETT
EEZARREEBHKERDOARK 1552
BETNEMESHNRIRDOARESB0E S

JC °

REB RTS8 7 1) W AR AR

For the year ended

31 December

BZ12A31BLEEE

2022 2021 Change
2022 F 2021 6 o
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 %
AR TR AR®TIT ARETT %
Property management business MEEIBET

— Property management services — O EEIRRIE 1,322,093 1,332,054 (9,961) 0.7)
— Sale assistance services — RS 15,295 24,992 (9,697) (38.8)
Cleaning and greening business BR R 216,691 155,036 61,655 398

Real estate consulting and agency FEHbE AR R RIE TS
business 10,256 165417 (155,161) (93.8)
Other business H b 275 138,060 196,034 (57,974) (29.6)
1,702,395 1,873,533 (171,138) 9.1

FREAREEERAT
20224F 7y
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MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

The Group's property management business includes the provision of
property management services, sales assistance services, cleaning and
greening services, real estate consulting and agency services and other
services. Details of analysis of each service are as follows:

Property management services

Revenue from property management services decreased by approximately
RMB10 million or approximately 0.7% over 2021 primarily due to frequent
recurrence of Covid-19 pandemic as well as slowdowns in overall economy
of the property management industry in the PRC during 2022.

Sale assistance services

Revenue from sale assistance services for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately RMB15.3 million, comparing to approximately
RMB25 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB9.7 million or 38.8%. The decrease was
mainly due to the prolonged Covid-19 epidemic.

Cleaning and greening business

Revenue from cleaning and greening business for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately RMB216.7 million, comparing to
RMB155.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an
increase of approximately RMB61.7 million or 39.8%. The increase was
primarily due to development in new markets in Shanghai, Changsha and
Chongging.

Real estate consulting and agency business

Revenue from real estate consulting and agency business for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB10.3 million, comparing
to approximately RMB165.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB155.1 million or 93.8%. The
decrease was mainly due to no revenue arisen from E IR B 2 Z:80R
%A A] (Guangxi Huihuang Property Advisory Services Company
Limited®) ("Huihuang Property’) and EFIiE1E B E Z ARG EE S
fR 2 A] (Guangxi Huihuang Real Estate Advisory Services Group Company
Limited*) ("Huihuang Real Estate”) since the put option was completed
in October 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other businesses

Revenue from other businesses decreased from approximately RMB196.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB138.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease of
approximately RMB57.9 million or 29.6% over the year was mainly due to
the disposal of EMF#EEE R B R A F (Guangzhou Nuodeng
Elevator Services Company Limited*) ("Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator’)
and ERE&EELRLZIRF AR A Guangdong Jindun Zhengan
Security Services Company Limited (“Guangdong Jindun”) being
completed in March 2022 and May 2022 respectively.

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES

The Group's cost of sales and services primarily comprises (i) sub-
contracting costs, representing the expenses paid to sub-contractors for
various services under the property management services and sales
assistance services; (ii) staff costs; (iii) depreciation expenses associated with
equipment and property used in providing services; (iv) costs of other
services and sale of goods such as salaries cost of the technicians in the
provision of elevator engineering services and weak-current engineering
services; costs of the spare parts sold and operating costs in running the
catering services and (v) costs of cleaning and greening products and
utensils as well as commission paid for the real estate and property agency
services.

Cost of sales and services decreased by 6.6% from approximately
RMB1,440.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB1,345.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease
was due primarily to the decrement of the Group’s business, which was
partially offset by the increase in the labour cost, sub-contracting cost and
costs of other services and cost of goods.
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Hh

HMEBWAHEBE2001E 12831 BIEEEHA
R¥1960BB LR EHE=2022F 1283181
FEHARKEIBBIBET  FRRDHARE
579 B8 296% EEHRHEEMBEETHR
BERAR([BMNEEER ) LERSBELLR
ZREER AR (EBREE]) D BIH 20223 A
N 202285 A5ERK °

$HE R IRIE AN

REBAEHERBRERAETEBE)DBKA -
BENTHOEEURESYESERSE KIBHERESE
LIRS ¢ () B TACA (i) B R 7% B
FANSERYEESBOTER S (v EARE
MEHEE TR - 5] a0 IR (PR T2 AR 7S % 55
BIERRBOEMABHFERE : HEZIMHRK
R BB RIG RS AR K (v) 7B B E @
NS AR AU REERMERERBEAS

HENMRERAREZ2021F12 A31BIEFEEL
ARME1,4408 BB LR L 66% EEE 2022912 A
STHIEFEMHARBI345088IL AP EE
MRAEENEBRL  BOALIRE D
PN R L Ath AR 5 X AN B 7 R A AN A DN P HE B o

FREREEERLA 2 —I
20224F 7y



MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The tables below sets forth the Group’s gross profit and gross profit
margins by services for the years indicated:

EXNREF=E
TREFIEEBNFAREERRBED WEFNR
EFI% -

For the year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
% of % of
RMB’000 revenue RMB'000 revenue
ARET R HE% ARETIT U ES %
Property management business SEX=BLEIE S

— Property management services — MEEERG 301,650 22.8 336,741 253
— Sale assistance services — W AR TS 3,360 22.0 7,173 287
Cleaning and greening business BA RS ER 22,623 10.4 12,781 8.2

Real estate consulting and agency B EZARRIBERS
business 2,442 23.8 38,358 232
Other businesses Efth X 75 27,280 19.8 37,686 19.2
Overall B 357,355 21.0 432,739 231

The Group's gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
RMB357.4 million, comparing to RMB432.7 million in 2021, representing a
decrease of RMB75.3 million, or 17.4%. The Group's gross profit margin
decreased from 23.1% for the year ended 31 December 2021 to 21.0% in
2022.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group's other income and gains for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB55.8 million, comparing to approximately RMB51.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an increase of
RMB4.7 million or 9.2%. The increase was primarily due to gain on the
disposal of Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator and Guangdong Jindun.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group's selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31
December 2022 were approximately RMB5.0 million, comparing to
approximately RMB12.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
which represented a huge decline of RMB7.3 million or 59.4%. The decrease
was primarily which due to disposal of Huihuang Property and Huihuang
Real Estate in October 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

The Group'’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB210.1 million, comparing to approximately
RMB227.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, represented a
decrease of approximately RMB17.2 or 7.6%. The decrease was primarily
due to disposal of Huihuang Property and Huihuang Real Estate in October
2021.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED ON
FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group's net impairment losses on financial assets were approximately
RMB54.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, comparing to net
impairment losses on financial assets of approximately RMB32.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a increase of
approximately RMB21.8 million in the provision for impairment losses on
financial assets which was primarily due to the deteriorated liquidity crisis
of the real estate sector in the PRC, accompanied by frequent recurrence of
Covid-19 pandemic as well as slowdowns in overall economy. As a result,
the increase in impairment loss on other receivables and account
receivables were made.

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group's other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately RMB12.9 million, comparing to approximately RMB18.6
million in 2021, representing a decrease of approximately RMB5.7 million or
30.8%. The decrease was due to loss on disposal in Huihuang Property and
Huihuang Real Estate in 2021.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's net finance expenses amounted to approximately RMB2.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 comparing to net finance
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 of approximately RMB6.4
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB3.5 million or 54.8%.
The decrease was primarily due to (i) disposal of Guangzhou Nuodeng
Elevator and Guangdong Jindun in March 2022 and May 2022 respectively;
and (i) disposal of Huihuang Property and Huihuang Real Estate in 2021.
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MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

INCOME TAX

The Group’s income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB43.6 million, comparing to income tax of
approximately RMB58.8 million in 2021. The decrease in income tax was
primarily due to lower assessable profit incurred for the year.

GOODWILL

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded goodwill of approximately
RMB225.3 million, representing a decrease of 25.6% as compared with that
of approximately RMB302.6 million as at 31 December 2021. The decrease
in goodwill of the Group was due to (i) disposal of Guangzhou Nuodeng
Elevator and Guangdong Jindun; and (i) the provision for impairment loss
on goodwill for acquisitions of property management companies under
the deteriorated liquidity crisis of real estate sector.

The goodwill primarily derived from the expected future business
development of the above acquired companies, increase of market
coverage, expansion of service portfolio, integration of value-added
services and improvement of management efficiency.

INVENTORIES

Inventories decreased from approximately RMB50.3 million as at 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB5.6 million as at 31 December 2022.
The decrease of approximately RMB44.7 million or 88.9% was mainly due
to disposal of Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables mainly arose from property management services and
cleaning and greening services.

As at 31 December 2022, total trade receivables of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB496.2 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB85.6 million or 20.9% compared to approximately RMB410.6 million as
at 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily due to collection rate
became slower as the general atmosphere of the real estate industry
environment and the Covid-19 epidemic.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's prepayments and other receivables
amounted to approximately RMB314.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB186.4 million or 37.2% compared to approximately
RMB501.0 million as at 31 December 2021. The decrease was primarily due
to (i) disposal of Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator and Guangdong Jindu; and
(ii) the collection rate became better.

Other receivables included RMB16.9 million (2021: RMB26.6 million)
advanced to four independent third parties for business purpose. The loans
were unsecured, and interest-free (except for two loans bearing interest at
4.5% and 7% per annum). Impairment provision of RMB0.4 million is
required for these loans as at 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately RMB7.7
million mainly represented the fair value of the options to dispose of the
acquired equity interest in acquired subsidiaries to the non-controlling
equity holders. Decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss from approximately RMB14.1 million as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB7.7 million as at 31 December 2022 was mainly due to (i)
disposal of Guangdong Jindun; and (i) loss of contingent consideration by
fair value.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables and accruals primarily comprise receipts on behalf of
community residents for utilities, contract liabilities, received in advances,
accruals, deposits received and other payables. Other payables and
accruals decreased from approximately RMB832.1 million as at 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB671.5 million as at 31 December
2022. The decrease in amounting approximately RMB160.6 million due to
disposal of Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator and Guangdong Jindun.
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MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group maintains a strong and healthy financial position. The Group's
principal sources of funds to finance the working capital, capital
expenditure and other capital requirements were internally generated by
cash flows and bank loans. As at 31 December 2022, net working capital
(calculated as current assets less current liabilities) was approximately
RMB330.2 million, representing an increase of RMB24.2 million from
RMB306.0 million as at 31 December 2021. The current ratio (calculated as
current assets/current liabilities) was 1.4 times as at 31 December 2022
(2021: 1.3 times).

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group’s borrowings
were denominated in RMB. A non-controlling equity holder of a subsidiary
of the Company provided a personal guarantee in respect of certain bank
loans granted to the Group of up to Nil (31 December 2021: RMB4.6
million) at nil consideration as at 31 December 2022. The bank borrowing
balances of the Group bore interest at fixed rates at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021. The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings at fixed rates approximate to their fair values.

The Group principally focused on the operation in the PRC. Except for the
cash, bank deposits and bank borrowings denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group was not subject to any other material risk directly
relating to the foreign exchange fluctuation. For the year ended 31
December 2022, despite the depreciation of RMB against USD and HKD,
the Directors expected that fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate would
not materially and adversely affect the operations of the Group. The
management will continue to monitor foreign currency exchange
exposure and will take prudent measures to minimise the currency
translation risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is defined as total borrowings add amounts due to non-
controlling equity holders of a subsidiary and net of bank balances and
cash divided by total equity. As at 31 December 2022, the Group was in a
good financial position with a net cash position amounting to RMB389.5
million (2021: RMB318.7 million). Accordingly, no gearing ratio is presented.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2022, investment properties and property and equipment
of RMB99.6 million (2021: RMB104.6 million) were pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil).
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MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

PROFIT GUARANTEE

(a)

(b)

Guangdong Huaui

The Board has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of Guangdong Huaui for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 and is pleased to confirm that profit guarantee of
consolidated net profit after tax of not less than RMB9.8 million was
met.

Guangdong Xunhua

As disclosed in agreement, the Vendor agreed to guarantee that
Guangdong Xunhua will have (i) consolidated net profit after tax of
not less than RMB11.0 million for the financial year ended 31
December 2022; and (ii) consolidated net profit after tax of not less
than RMB13.0 million for the financial year ending 31 December
2023. The Board has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of Guangdong Xuhua for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 and is pleased to confirmed that profit guarantee of
consolidated net profit after tax of not less than RMB11.0 million.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 8,241 (2021: 7,528)
employees. In order to enhance the morale and productivity of employees,
employees are remunerated based on their performance, experience and
prevailing industry practices. Compensation policies and packages of
management staff and functional heads are being reviewed on a yearly

basis.

In addition to basic salary, performance related salary may also be

awarded to employees based on internal performance evaluation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group also invests in continuing education and training programmes
for management staff and other employees with a view to upgrading their
skills and knowledge. These training courses comprise internal courses run
by the management of the Group and external courses provided by
professional trainers and range from technical training for butlers to
financial and administrative trainings for management staff.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 29 March 2022, AT KXY E R B R A F] (Zhejiang Yongcheng
Property Management Company Limited*) ("Zhejiang Yongcheng"), &
B oK EE R TZAMR AR (Ningbo Yongdu Elevator Engineering
Company Limited®) (‘"Ningbo Yongdu’), =11/& (Huang Bogian*) (“Mr.
Huang’), E# & (Zhou Daihui*) (“Mr. Zhou") and Guangzhou Nuodeng
Elevator entered into a cancellation agreement pursuant to which the
parties thereto agreed to cancel the first equity transfer agreement dated
29 December 2020 and the second equity transfer agreement dated 29
December 2020 and arrange for (i) the transfer of 100% equity interest in
Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator from Ninbo Yongdu back to Mr. Huang; and
(i) the transfer of 49% equity interest in Ningbo Yongdu from Mr. Huang
back to Zhejiang Yongcheng or its designated third party, which will be a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As Mr. Huang is interested in
49% equity interest in Ningbo Yongdu and is therefore a connected person
at the subsidiary level (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company,
the cancellation agreement constituted a connected transaction between
the Company and a connected person at the subsidiary level (as defined
under the Listing Rules). The transaction was completed in March 2022. For
further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
29 March 2022.

On 21 April 2022, Guangdong Zhong Ao as the purchaser, has served an
option notice on Mr. Zhao Tao as the vendor to request the vendor to
purchase 60% of the registered capital in Guangdong Jindun held by the
purchaser (“Sale Capital’) in the total amount of RMB15 million, which is
equivalent to the total consideration paid by the purchaser for the
acquisition of the Sale Capital from the Vendor. On the date of the option
notice, the vendor has paid the purchaser RMB15 million for the acquisition
of all the Sale Capital by the vendor from the purchaser under the option
notice. Therefore, Guangdong Zhong Ao agreed not to charge the vendor
any interest as compensation under the option price. The said disposal of
Guangdong Jindun was completed in May 2022. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 21 April 2022.
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MANACEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N mED T

Save as disclosed above in this announcement, the Group had no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associates during the year ended
31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above in this announcement, as at 31 December 2022,
the Group has no specific plan for major investment or acquisition for
major capital assets or other business. However, the Group will continue to
identify new opportunities for business development.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 March 2023, the Directors resolved to recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: HKD2.5 cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 9 June 2023. Subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM"), the final dividend is
expected to be payable on or about 7 July 2023. The aggregate amount
shall be paid out of the Company's share premium account if the payment
of the dividend is approved by the shareholders at the AGM.

ERPBRYEEIEAFR A A (Guangdong Zhong Ao Property
Management Company Limited*) (“Guangdong Zhong Ao”"), has
demanded 251 (Liang Xiwei*) ("Mr. Liang’) and =& % (Huang
Junhua*) (“Mr. Huang") from time to time to (i) pay the remaining balance
of the Option Price; and (ii) complete the registration procedures for
mortgaging the remaining 183 Tinayu Garden Car Parking Spaces. Mr. Liang
and Mr. Huang has still not settled and completed the registration
procedures for mortgaging, which constitutes a breach of the Second
Supplemental Agreement.

Guangdong Zhong Ao, has commenced civil lawsuit and submitted a
claim (the “Claim”) against Mr. Liang and Mr. Huang to the People’s Court
of Qingxiu District, Nanning City, the People’s Republic of China for, among
others, (i) the remaining balance of the Option Price of RMB20 million and
all accrued interest; (ii) penalty for breach of contract; and (i) an order that
Guangdong Zhong Ao shall have the right to be compensated in priority
by the proceeds from the auction or sale of the mortgaged properties
(including a house and 227 Tianyu Garden Car Parking Spaces). On 14 April
2023, Guangdong Zhong Ao has received from the Court an acceptance
notice in relation to the Claim. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 18 August 2021, 22 October 2021
and 31 January 2022, 1 August 2022 and 17 April 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DIRECTORS
MR. LIU JIAN

Chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Liu Jian, aged 55, is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company and was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
5 January 2015. Being one of the first members of the Group, Mr. Liu
founded Guangdong Zhong Ao Property Management Company Limited
(“Guangdong Zhong Ao") with Ms. Chen Zhuo in September 2005. Mr.
Liu was appointed as the sole director of Zhong Ao Property in September
2005 and has been primarily responsible for overall operation and
management, strategic planning and business development. Mr. Liu plays
a key role in the Group's business development and has led its business
expansion from Guangdong province to other parts of China. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Liu worked at Guilin Park Hotel Co., Ltd. (EEARAE 3
BRJE B BR A F)) from May 1990 to August 1994 and his last position held
was manager. From September 1994 to March 1999, he worked at Guilin
Royal Gardens Hotel Co., Ltd. (EE#RF 488 [E B R 2 &) and his last
position held was manager. From 1999 to December 2003, Mr. Liu served
as general manager of Guangzhou Olympic Garden Property Company (/&
M B ARIC 7 FTEE ¥ 3 2 B]) and from February 2004 to June 2005, as
general manager of Nanguo Aoyuan Property Company (F B B & ¥ %
R]), both companies being subsidiaries of Guangdong Yabo Property
Service Company Limited (BER HEIEY 2% R B FR 2 7)) (‘Guangdong
Yabo"). Mr. Liu graduated from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology (ZEAFE T K E2) with a bachelor’s degree in economics in
1988. In 2008, Mr. Liu attained a master's degree in business administration
from Asia International Open University (Macau).

MS. CHEN ZHUO

Executive Director and vice president

Ms. Chen Zhuo, aged 45, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015. Ms.
Chen joined the Group as vice president when Zhong Ao Property was
established in September 2005. As a founder and a member of the core
management team of the Group, she has been primarily responsible for
financial management, strategic planning and business development. Ms.
Chen served as deputy general manager of Guangdong Yabo from August
2002 to March 2005. Ms. Chen received a college degree from Sun Yat-sen
University (FF1LIZKE2) in 1999, majoring in business management. Ms. Chen
obtained the qualification of a property management manager in 2000 from
the Ministry of Construction of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EELEREEEZN

MR. LIANG BING

Executive Director and vice president

Mr. Liang Bing, aged 51, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015. Mr.
Liang joined the Group as vice president in September 2005. As a member
of the Group's core management team, he has been primarily responsible
for overall operation and management, strategic planning and business
development. Mr. Liang served as deputy general manager of Guangdong
Yabo from May 2002 to June 2005. Mr. Liang graduated and attained a
bachelor's degree in environmental engineering from Hunan University (8
A ) located in Hunan, the PRC in July 1996. He later obtained a
master's degree in business administration for senior management from
Sun Yat-sen University (F1UAZ2) in 2013, In July 2022, Mr. Liang was
elected as an executive vice president of Guangdong Province Property
Management Industry Institute in the sixth member and council meeting.

MR. LONG WEIMIN

Executive Director and vice president

Mr. Long Weimin, aged 60, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015. Mr.
Long joined the Group as vice president in June 2008. As a member of the
Group's core management team, he has been primarily responsible for
overall operation and management, strategic planning and business
development. Mr. Long has 14 years of experience in the hospitality
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Long served as a deputy general
manager at Guangxi Nanning Fenghuang Lodge (/& PR 2 B8 & 58)
from November 2001 to January 2004, as a deputy general manager at
Purui Hotspring Hotel (& )& 58 /&) from 2003 to 2007 and as a general
manager at Luoyang Mudou International Hotel Co. Ltd. (/&5 $H#BEIFR 8
JEBBRAF]) from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Long graduated and attained a
diploma from Guangxi Radio and TV University (78 EEE1RAE) in
1982.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MR. WU ZHIHUA

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wu Zhihua, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 29 June 2020. Mr. Wu has been an executive director of
Greentown Service Group Co.Ltd. ("Greentown Service’, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2869) from 27
November 2015 to 10 February 2023. Mr. Wu joined Greentown Property
Management Co., Ltd. (S ¥ % RS £ B BBR A 7)) (@ wholly-owned
subsidiary of Greentown Service) in June 2003, and held various positions,
including the assistant to general manager, the vice general manager, the
vice executive general manager and Chairman from January 2009 to
February 2011, from February 2011 to November 2014, from December 2014
to March 2018, and from March 2018 to May 2019, respectively , he also
served as a director since 7 August 2015. Mr. Wu was appointed as the chief
executive officer and chief financial officer of Greentown Service from March
2018 to June 2021 and from August 2018 to June 2021, respectively.

Mr. Wu graduated from Zhejiang University (37T A2 in Hangzhou, the
PRC with a bachelor's degree majoring in tourism management, and
obtained his master's degree in science in quality management from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University (/482 T X22) in Hong Kong.

MR. JIN KELI

Non-executive Director

Ms. Jin Keli, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company since 17 July 2020. She has been the chief executive officer and
executive Director of Greentown Service Group Co.Ltd. (“Greentown
Service’), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2869) since 21 June 2021 and 1 February 2022, respectively.
She is responsible for management work in relation to the overall operation
of Greentown Service. Ms. Jin joined the Greentown Property Management
Service Group Co., Ltd. (Bt YIRS E BB R 2 7)) (‘Greentown
Property Management’) in May 2006 and held various positions in the
Greentown Property Management, including the administrative director of
the Administrative Management Center from January 2012 to January
2014, the assistant president from February 2015 to July 2017, the vice
president from August 2017 to March 2018 and the president since March
2018, respectively. Ms. Jin served as the chief operating officer and the
chief financial officer of Greentown Service from March 2018 to February
2022 and June 2021 to February 2022, respectively. Ms. Jin appointed as an
executive director and resigned as the chief operating officer and chief
financial officer of Greentown Service from 1 February 2022.

Ms. Jin graduated from China University of Political Science and Law in July
2006 with a bachelor’s degree majoring in philosophy, and obtained her
MBA degree from China Europe International Business School (7P B} R
T EB%) in November 2018.
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MR. CHAN WAI CHEUNG, ADMIRAL

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, aged 49, joined the Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on
31 May 2017. Mr. Admiral Chan holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Admiral Chan is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
extensive experience in accounting and auditing fields. Mr. Admiral Chan is
an executive director of Energy International Investments Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
353). He was an independent non-executive director of Century Energy
International Holdings Limited (formerly know as China Oil Gangran Energy
Group Holdings Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8132), from 5 March 2020 to 4 August 2021, an
independent non-executive director of SFund International Holdings
Limited, a company previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1367), from 29 November 2016 to 17 August 2022,
and an independent non-executive director of China Water Affairs Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 855), from 15 January 2020 to 30 November 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MR. CHAN KA LEUNG KEVIN

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin, aged 54, joined the Company and was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 31 May
2017. Mr. Kevin Chan, holds a bachelor of science degree in accounting
and a master of science degree from the University of lllinois of the United
States of America. Mr. Kevin Chan has extensive experience in corporate
finance. He is currently a responsible officer of a corporation licensed under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong) (the "SFO”) to conduct type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity. Mr. Kevin Chan was an independent non-executive
director of Greens Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1318) from 8 January 2015 to 12 November
2015. He was an independent non-executive director of S&S Intervalue
China Limited, the shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8506), from 18 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 and
Teamway International Group Holdings Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1239) since 21
June 2019 to 31 December 2022.

MR. HUANG ANXIN

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Huang Anxin, aged 60, joined the Company and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 3 October 2017.
Mr. Huang obtained a master degree in management from Central China
Normal University in 2000. He was the professor of Guangzhou Open
University until 1 January 2023 as date of retirement. He is currently the
person in charge of =B KYEEIR (the shared modern property
management*) of the Open University of China and Guangzhou Open
University, Deputy Director of Human Resources Development Committee
of China Property Management Institute and senior expert of Guangdong
Property Management Industry Institute. He has over 34 years of
experience of teaching in the PRC and in particular, the subject of
corporate management and administration. He also has intensive
knowledge in other areas such as property management, economic
administration management and community governance.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. CHAN KONG

Vice president

Mr. Chan Kong, aged 73, joined the Group as a vice president in April 2008.
Prior to joining the Group, he served as an executive housekeeper at Guilin
Riverside Resort, China (8%E £8) from February 1987 to February 1988. From
February 1988 to January 2002, Mr. Chan worked with Macau CTS Hotel
Management (International) Limited GRFIF iR (EIER) JEEEERAREA
B]). He joined as a project coordinator in 1988 and was later assigned by a
secondment to Hotel Universal Guilin in the capacity of an executive
housekeeper. He was subsequently promoted and served as general manager
of Hotel Universal Guilin and general manager of Hotel Metropole, Macau (2
FIFEREE) and Xi'an Eastern Haojing Hotel (A% 57 &2 H 5). From
2003 to 2004, he served as a general manager at Man Wah Dongguan Hotel
(REXEBE).

MS. XIANG YAN

Assistant to CEO

Ms. Xiang Yan, aged 37, joined the Group in October 2005. She is currently
the Assistant to CEO of the Group. Ms. Xiang graduated from Jinan
University (5 A£2) and obtained a diploma in property management.

Mr. Kwong Lun Kei, Victor

Company secretary

Mr. Kwong Lun Kej, Victor, aged 41, is appointed as the company secretary
of the Group. Mr. Kwong is a practicing solicitor and was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in 2010. He obtained his Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Commerce from University of New South Wales, Australia in
2007. He has over ten (10) years of experience in corporate finance and
primarily advises on listings of companies on the Stock Exchange, mergers
and acquisitions, regulatory compliance and other commercial law matters.
Mr. Kwong is also the company secretary of Brainhole Technology Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2203) since 1 April 2020, one of the joint company secretaries of Sterling
Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1825) since 1 February 2022 and the company
secretary of Hong Wei (Asia) Holdings Company Limited, a company listed
on GEM (stock code: 8191) since 30 September 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board ("“Board") of directors (“Directors”) of the Company is pleased
to present this corporate governance report for the year ended 31
December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining and upholding high standards of
corporate governance of the Company to ensure that formal and
transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximise the interests
of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code ("CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of the Securities ("Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) as its code of
corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board is of the view that the
Company has complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code in
force during the reporting period save and except for the following code
provisions:

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company has appointed Mr. Liu
Jian as both the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer in the same individual would enable the Company to
achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and effectiveness when
formulating business strategies and executing business plans. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is sufficiently maintained
by the operation of the senior management and Board, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises
four executive directors (including Mr. Liu Jian), two non-executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors and therefore has
a fairly strong independence element in its composition.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct for Directors in their dealings in
Company's securities. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard of
dealings as set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
oversees the Group's businesses.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out below:

To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

To review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
Directors and employees; and

To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

(i) Board composition

The Board currently comprises a combination of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. There is a strong independent element on the
Board, to ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board’s
decision making process as well as the thoroughness and impartiality
of the Board'’s oversight of the management.
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(ii)

The Board possesses, both as individual Directors and collectively,
appropriate experience, competencies and personal qualities,
including professionalism and integrity, to discharge its
responsibilities adequately and effectively. In addition, the Board
collectively has adequate knowledge and expertise relevant to each
of the material business activities that the Company pursues and the
associated risks in order to ensure effective governance and
oversight.

Members of the Board, who come from a variety of different
backgrounds, have a diverse range of business, professional
expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this Annual
Report.

The Board members have no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships) with each
other.

The Board of the Company currently comprises of the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Zhihua
Ms. Jin Keli

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

Mr. Huang Anxin

Board meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2022, nine Board meetings
were held. Prior notices convening the Board meetings were
despatched to the Directors setting out the matters to be discussed.
At the meetings, the Directors were provided with the relevant
documents to be discussed and approved. The company secretary is
responsible for keeping minutes for the Board meetings.
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(iii) Responsibilities of the Board and management
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(v)

40

The executive Directors, with the assistance from the senior
management, form the core management team of the Company.
The executive Directors have the overall responsibility for
formulating the business strategies and development plan of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) and the
senior management personnel are responsible for supervising and
executing the plans of the Group.

Independence of independent non-executive
Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board considers that all independent non-
executive Directors have appropriate and sufficient diversity, industry
or finance experience and qualifications to carry out their duties so
as to protect the interests of the Shareholders. One of the
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung,
Admiral is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the independent non-
executive Directors has submitted a written statement to the Stock
Exchange confirming their independence and has undertaken to
inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there is any
subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence. In addition, the Company has also received a written
confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in respect of their independence. Based on such confirmations, the
Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Induction for Director and continuous professional
development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he or she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his or her
responsibilities under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The
Company also provides Directors with regular updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors
are also provided with regular updates on the Company's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties.
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Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, each Director, namely Mr.
Liu Jian, Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing, Mr. Long Weimin, Mr. Wu
Zhihua, Ms. Jin Keli, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, Mr. Chan Ka
Leung, Kevin and Mr. Huang Anxin, has participated in continuous
professional development by reading relevant materials on
regulatory requirements and/or attending training sessions or
seminars organised by the Company or externally.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman and chief executive officer are two key aspects of the
management of a company. Chairman is responsible for providing
leadership for the board and management of the board while chief
executive officer is responsible for day-to-day management of business.
Clear division of these responsibilities should be in place to ensure a
balance power and authority. The code provision C.2.1 of CG Code which
provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the year, Mr. Liu Jian (“Mr. Liu") is the chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company. This constitutes a deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of CG Code.

The Company considers that having Mr. Liu acting as both the chairman
and chief executive officer will provide a strong and consistent leadership
to the Group and allow for more effective strategic planning and
management of the Group. Further, in view of Mr. Liu's experience in the
industry, personal profile and role in the Group and historical development
of the Group, the Group considers it is to the benefit of the Group in the
business prospects that Mr. Liu continues to act as both the chairman and
chief executive officer after the Listing. Therefore, the Company currently
has no intention to separate the functions of chairman and chief executive
officer.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee on 5 November 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rule and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The audit committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, Mr.
Chan Ka Leung, Kevin and Mr. Huang Anxin, all being independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral is the chairman of the
audit committee with the appropriate professional qualifications. The
primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the Group,
oversee the audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, three audit committee
meetings were held and the individual attendance of each Director is set
out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.

At the meetings, the members of audit committee principally reviewed
and discussed with the external auditor of the Company about the Group’s
annual results and audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the interim review scope and process for the
Group's result for the six months ended 30 June 2022, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and audit scope and process for
the Group's annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and assessment,
financial reporting process and internal control system, respectively.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee on 5 November
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
remuneration committee three members, namely Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin,
Ms. Chen Zhuo and Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral. Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin
is the chairman of the remuneration committee. The primary duties of the
remuneration committee are to establish and review the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management and approve
recommendations on management remuneration.

The remuneration committee meets to determine the policy for the
remuneration of Directors and assess the performance of executive
Directors and approving the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.
In determining the remuneration for Directors, the remuneration
committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, two remuneration committee
meetings were held and the individual attendance of each Director is set
out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee on 5 November
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The nomination committee has three
members, namely Mr. Liu Jian, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral and Mr. Chan
Ka Leung, Kevin. Mr. Liu Jian is the chairman of the nomination committee.
The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, two nomination committee
meeting was held and the individual attendance of each Director is set out
in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.
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Objective

1.1

The nomination policy sets out the approach and procedures
the Board adopts for the nomination and selection of
Directors, including the appointment of additional Directors,
replacement of Directors, and re-election of Directors.

Policy Statement

2.1

2.2

The Company recognises the importance of having a qualified
and competent Board to achieve the Group corporate strategy
as well as promote shareholder value.

The Company believes that a Board that possesses a balance
of skill set, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
enhances decision-making capability and the overall
effectiveness of the Board. The Board is committed to ensuring
that proper nomination and election processes are in place for
the selection and nomination of Directors.

Selection Criteria

3.1

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age, culture,
ethnicity and gender diversity. The Nomination Committee
shall consider the following selection criteria and such other
factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the
Board:

(i) Attributes Complementary to the Board: The
candidate should possess attributes that complement
and expand the skill set, experience and expertise of the
Board as a whole, having regard to the current structure,
size, diversity profile and skills matrix of the Board and
the needs of the Board.

(i)  Business Experience & Board Expertise and Skills:
The candidate should have the ability to exercise sound
business judgment and also possess proven
achievement and experience in directorship including
effective oversight of and guidance to management.
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(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

Availability: The candidate should have sufficient time
for the proper discharge of the duties of a Director,
including devoting adequate time for the preparation
and participation in meetings, training and other Board
or Company associated activities.

Motivation: The candidate should be self-motivated
and have a strong interest in the Company's businesses.

Integrity: The candidate should be a person of
integrity, honesty, good repute and high professional
standing.

Independence: Independent non-executive Director
candidates must satisfy the independence requirements
under the Listing Rules. The candidate shall be
independent in character and judgement and be able
to represent and act in the best interests of all
Shareholders.

The above criteria are for reference only and are not meant to

be exhaustive or decisive. The Board shall take into

consideration the benefits of a diversified Board when
selecting Board candidates.

IV. Nomination Procedures

4.1 Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

U]

(i)

If the Board determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple
channels for identifying suitable director candidates,
including referral from Directors, shareholders,
management, advisors of the Company and external
executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the Nomination Committee will shortlist
candidates for consideration by the Board based on the
selection criteria and such other factors that it considers
appropriate. The Board has the final authority on
determining suitable director candidate for
appointment.
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4.2 Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i) Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election, the Board shall consider and, if consider
appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the requisite information on such retiring
Director will be sent to shareholders prior to a general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(i) Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand for
election as a Director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director of the
Company” published by the Company from time to
time.

V. Review and Monitoring

5.1  The Board will from time to time review this Policy and
monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element
in maintaining an effective Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with an aim to promote
broad experience and diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Board has reviewed, through the Nomination Committee, the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board as well as the
nomination and appointment procedure of Directors during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS EENSEMHETE
The attendance records of each Director at various meetings held during ~TER&EF| S EEZERNEZE202F 12 31 HIEEER

the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the table below: TR {TRIBEHMNHERREE -
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Board

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM
Name EREEE FMESE REEEE EEg RE
£1B = = = = BERE
Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A 2/2 8/9 11
R E(EFE) T EA TEA
Ms. Chen Zhuo N/A 2/2 N/A 9/9 1/1
PR 22+ TEA T iE A
Mr. Liang Bing N/A N/A N/A 9/9 11
RESE T E A N iE ANiE A
Mr. Long Weimin N/A N/A N/A 9/9 11
ERREE T EA TiEA T EA
Mr. Wu Zhihua N/A N/A N/A 9/9 1/1
REFELAE A iE A TiEA T iE A
Ms. Jin Keli N/A N/A N/A 9/9 11
SRIEZ T A3 A TEA T EA
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral 3/3 2/2 2/2 9/9 11
PRIZE LA
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin 3/3 2/2 2/2 9/9 1
BRRR LA
Mr. Huang Anxin 3/3 N/A N/A 9/9 11
BRI AE TiEA TEA
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total fees paid/payable in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by Ernst &
Young are set out below:

BB ET &

HE202RF12A318IFE » L KEHAIES
Frm A BRI E K IR B RGBT R
BR@EHIMT

RMB’000
ARETT
Type of services: R :
Audit services EZRE
Audit of the annual consolidated financial BZFELEETERE
statements (2,800)
Interim review of financial results for the six months HZE2022%F 6 A30BI1ENEA S ELER
ended 30 June 2022 AR ERER % (1,200)
Other assurance services H % RS (110)
Audit fee of PRC companies BAARIEER (52)
(4162)

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the
accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and the management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s independent external auditor, Ernst &
Young, about their reporting responsibilities is included in the
“Independent Auditor's Report” in this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and Board
committees by developing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor of Michael Li & Co., an external
service provider, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company.
The biographical details of Mr. Kwong are set out in the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is accountable for overseeing the Group's risk management and

internal control systems and reviewing its effectiveness, while the
management and other personnel are responsible for implementing and
maintaining the internal controls systems that covers governance,
compliance, risk management, financial and operational controls to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interests. The system is

designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve

business objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A.

Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has
conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems. The following is the
summary of the Internal Control and Risk Management Report.

This report summarises our assessment and procedures for the
Company’s risk management, and its internal control is considered
to be sufficient and at low risk. This report also aims to assist the
Company to recognise its internal control weakness in relevant
financial procedures, systems and internal controls area.

Our assessment commencing from assessing the over compliance
system and risk management control, the financial reporting and
disclosure control, and the operating controls of the Company.
Approaches include interviews with management, reviewing on
relevant documents, walkthroughs of processes, tests on selected
operating samples, and a follow-up assessment after
implementation of recommendation on internal control issues.
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We have performed annual enquiries, reviewed of company’s
documents, and on-site inspection to identify and understand the
extent of the risks. The Board of Directors has full responsibility to set
up a strategy when designing a system of internal controls that
eliminate risk and achieve business objectives. In our findings, an
Internal Control and Risk Management basic framework is
established and it consists of effectiveness and efficiency of
operation; reliability of financial reporting; and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. An Operation Manual is also
imposed for employees to comply with applicable laws and all in-
house procedures and practices.

On an annual basis, the department heads review and update their
risk registers; discussion sessions are then led by the Chief Executive.
Control activities are built on top-level reviews, segregation of duties
and physical controls by documenting all control process in policies
and procedures to limit delegation of authority, identifying the
material risks, planning the action items, and finalizing the budget
and business objectives through variance analyses. The company
secretary and legal advisor are also responsible to review adherence
to the laws, while the Board is responsible to delegate roles and
authorities to the Board members and senior management and
ensure they understand them.

For employee risk management, the Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics are set out; training sessions are regularly held to reiterate the
Company's zero tolerance approach to bribery and proper business
ethics.
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Internal Audit Function

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
has an internal audit department which consists of 2 employees to
monitor the daily operations of the Group. Besides, the Company
also appointed an internal control advisor (the “IC Advisor”) to
perform internal audit for the Group during the financial year ended
31 December 2022. The IC Advisor reported to the Audit Committee
and to the Company’s management. The IC Advisor conducted its
internal audit review activities according to the endorsed internal
audit plan during the financial year ended 31 December 2022. The IC
Advisor reported the internal audit findings and recommendations
to both the Audit Committee and the management of the Group.
The management of the Group agreed on the internal audit findings
and adopted the recommendations by the IC Advisor accordingly.

Management’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit review
activities mentioned in the aforementioned paragraphs, the
management of the Group had provided a confirmation to the
Board that the Group had maintained an effective risk management
mechanism and internal control system during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022.

No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, internal audit, risk management
and internal controls functions of the Group were identified. There is
no material weakness in the internal control of the Company
identified.

The Board and the Audit Committee, continue to evaluate the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting and internal audit
functions, as well as that function’s training programs and budget.
Based on its annual review, the Board and the Audit Committee are
not aware of any material deficiencies in the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control for the year ended 31 December
2022 and consider them effective and adequate.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM")
and putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of the requisition the Board fail to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

The annual report and the Company's website provide the contact details
of the Company. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing. Shareholders may also make enquiries
with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to put forward proposals at
the general meeting under the Cayman Islands Company Laws or the
articles of association of the Company. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph to convene an EGM for any
business specified in such written requisition.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to maintain a high level of transparency in
communicating with shareholders and investors through diversified
communication channels, including (i) printed copies of corporate
communications (including but not limited to annual reports, interim
reports, notice of meetings, circulars and proxy forms) required under the
Listing Rules, and shareholders can choose to receive such documents using
electronic means through the Company’s website (www.gdzawy.com); (ii)
the annual general meeting provides a forum for shareholders to raise
questions with the Board: (iii) the Company’s website contains the
announcements, latest data and information of the Group, so that the
shareholders and investors can access and inspect the information of the
Company in a timely manner; and (iv) analyse briefings are arranged from
time to time to update shareholders and investors on the Group's
performance.

The Company proposed to make certain amendments to the existing
amended and restated articles of association of the Company, among
other things, to conform to the core standards for shareholder protections
set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules. The proposed amendments and
the adoption of the second amended and restated articles of association
shall be subject to the passing of a special resolution by the shareholders
of the Company at the AGM. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2023 and the circular of the
Company dated 26 April 2023. The existing version of the Company's
Memorandum and Articles of Association is also available on the website of
the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Information on Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follow:

(1) Ms. JinKeli

—  Appointed as an executive director and resigned as the chief
operating officer and chief financial officer of Greentown
Service with effect from 1 February 2022.

(2)  Mr.Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

—  Resigned as an independent non-executive director of SFund
International Holdings Limited, a company previously listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1367) on
17 August 2022 and China Water Affairs Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 855) on 30 November 2022.

(3)  Mr.Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

—  Resigned as independent non-executive director of S&S
Intervalue China Limited, a company listed o the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8506) on 30 June 2022 and
Teamway International Group Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1239) on 31 December 2022.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting its annual report together with
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries
are primarily engaged in the provision of property management services,
sales assistance services, provision of cleaning and greening services and
provision of real estate agency services in the PRC. Further discussion and
analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the business and a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group,
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the financial year 2022, and an indication of likely future
development in the Group's business, can be found in the “Chairman’s

nou

Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” sections of this annual report. The above sections form

part of this report.

During the year, the Company has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to reducing emissions and minimizing negative
environmental impacts through the implementation of the environmental
management system ("EMS”) across our properties. The Group's EMS is
certified to the international standard ISO14001. Apart from complying
with all relevant international and local regulations, the Group regularly
identify potential environmental risks and strive for continuous
improvement. The key environmental concerns from the Group's
operations relate to resource use and waste management. The Group have
implemented relevant initiatives, such as implementation of metering
systems to monitor the energy and water consumption, installation of LED
lighting and energy efficient water pumps. The Group also promote
environmental protection awareness to its employees and property owners
through posting reminders and providing recycle bins.
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The Group obtain the certification from OHSAS18001 occupational health
and safety management system. The Group prides itself on providing a
safe, effective and congenial work environment and it values the health
and well-being of its staff. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines
have been implemented to ensure its working environment is healthy and
safe.

The Company'’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report, regarding
the same year covered in this annual report, will be posted on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company within two months from the
publication of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH ITS EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has maintained a good relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers:

Employees: Employees are the most valuable asset for the Group.
The Group therefore strive to create a motivated
workplace by providing employees a safe and healthy
working environment, and a fair workplace with a
prospective career. The Group also emphasises on its
employees’ work-life balance, and organised various
activities throughout the year.

Customers: The Group is committed to upholding excellence in its
service quality in each and every part of the services,
and providing a feel-at-home experience to build
customer connection. Various communication
channels are set up to listen to its customers’ opinions.
Suppliers: The success of the Group highly depends on the
quality of products and services obtained from them,
hence, the Group developed procurement procedures
to select and assess its suppliers carefully.

More details will be disclosed in the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, which will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company within two months from the publication of
this annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income
on page 79 of this annual report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKD2.50 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“Proposed Final
Dividend") (2021: HKD2.50 cents) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 9 June 2023.

Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM"), the
Proposed Final Dividend is expected to be payable on or about 7 July 2023.
The aggregate amount shall be paid out of the Company’s share premium
account if the payment of the dividend is approved by the shareholders at
the AGM.

DIVIDEND POLICY
I.  Purpose

1.1 The dividend policy aims to set out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to
the declaration, payment or distribution of its profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Il.  Principles and Guidelines

2.1 In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a
balance between retaining adequate reserves for the Group's
future growth and rewarding the shareholders of the
Company.

2.2 The Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the following factors when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

— the Group's overall results of operation, financial
condition, expected working capital requirements and
capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position and
future expansions plans;

—  the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves
of the Company;
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2.5

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group's business and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association, the Listing Rules and any other applicable laws
and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company's dividend distribution record
in the past may not be used as a reference or basis to
determine the level of dividends that may be declared or paid
by the Company in the future.

The dividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.

Review of the Policy

3.1

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and modify the dividend policy at any time.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five
financial years is set out on page 220.

DONATIONS

The Group had no charitable donations during the year ended 31
December 2022.

LOANS

Please refer to note 30 to financial statements of this annual report for
details of the loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the Group’s property and
equipment are set out in note 14 to financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BEYE

BERAEEREMENFAEHNFERRYTH
HERMEES

Details of the movements during the year in the Group's investment
properties are set out in note 15 to financial statements.

In addition, details of the investment property are set out below: BN - B ER IS EYINT ¢
The group’s Gross
effective Floor Area
Location Lease Use interest (sq.m.)
REEN BREER
g HE itk B ER (FHK)
1. 4 office units on the 10th floor (Nos. 10-1 to 10-4) of Ningbo Held under a land use right foraterm  Office 100% 2,753.31
Fortune City, located at the northern side of Jingjia Bridge expiring on 20 May 2048
and the eastern side of Binjiang Avenue, Jiangdong
District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC
1 FEMIAERTIREERELAREIAERE  RELMERREEE - EHR N 100% 275331
ERFER O 1084 @A ER(10-1F 10-45) 20484 5 A 20 B @
2. 83 apartment units, 2 retail units and 9 car parks of Shuimao ~ Held under a land use right foraterm  Dormitory, 100% 7,796.53
Huayuan, located at No. 75-77 Lane 528, Xindian Road, expiring on 9 December 2049 commercial and
Haishu District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC car park
2 FEMIEERTEEENAKSSFS7RRE  RETHERESS - AER EENEE I 100% 7,796.53
B3 EABEN 2T EEML K IERER 204912 A9BER BE
3. A retail unit of Zhebei Commercial Square, located at Held under a land use right foraterm  Commercial 100% 26.16
Longshan Avenue, ZhiCheng Town, Changxing County, expiring on 1 December 2049
Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC
3. FENIASN T REGEREE LCEREEE REDHERERS  BER (RS 100% 26.16
B ETEEN 2049F 12 A1 BER
4. 3 office units on the 19th floor (Unit Nos. 1901 to 1903) of Held under a land use right foraterm  Office 100% 818.09
Yintai International Business Center, located at, No. 1600 expiring on 15 January 2056
Science Museum Street of Changhe Avenue, Hangzhou
City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC
4 HENNTAEMMNTRTGEREES 0REREE  RELbERERS  AHER /N 100% 818.09
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FERHE
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) REW= #)
The group’s Gross
effective Floor Area
Location Lease Use interest (sq.m.)
REEN BEER
A= HE itk B R (FBXK)
5. 3 apartment units (Nos. 1808, 1908 and 1909) of Xiangxie Held under a land use right foraterm  Commercial service 100% 151.62
Mansion, located at, Jiefang Avenue, Shaoxing City, expiring on 3 December 2049 and office
Zhejiang Province, The PRC
5. RENTERETRRCER R AR AABEL BETinEAEREE - R BERBRBER 100% 15162
(1808 + 1908 K 19095%) 2049612 A3BER
6. Aresidential unit (Room 301) of a residential building, No.4 Held under a land use right foraterm  Dormitory 100% 15945
Xuehai Avenue, Nansha District, Guangzhou City, expiring on 22 February 2070
Guangdong Province, The PRC
6. FEEREENTHELESEAG4R—ETERTY REDMEAERS  BER B 100% 15945
—(AEEER (301 %) 20705282 BERH
7. Aresidential unit (Room?703) of a residential building, No.7 Held under a land use right foraterm  Dormitory 100% 12867
Zhong Jing Si Avenue, Nansha District, Guangzhou, expiring on 28 May 2077
Guangdong Province, The PRC
7. REEREENTRELETRNE7R—BEEET— RELOERESE  BHR B 100% 12867
BT8R (703%) 207745 A28 BE
8. Aresidential unit (No.16, Building 9) of, Siji Jingu, located at Held under a land use right foraterm  Dormitory 100% 200.07
Dongcheng Avenue, Zhaoging City, Guangdong expiring on 23 July 2076
Province, The PRC
8. REEREEEMRAAENESR—EEEEM(9 RELHERESE - AR BE 100% 20007
R165) 207657 A 3 BER
9. An apartment unit (No. 1415) of Kunlun International, Held under a land use right foraterm  Dormitory 100% 4738
located at Youyi Avenue, Baotou City, Inner Mongolia, expiring on 1 September 2081
The PRC
9. FEANSHARMRAAERAEE —AAF S RIELERERSE - BER e 100% 4738
(1415%) 2081669 A1 BER
10. 9 car parking spaces of, Louvre Garden, located at, Jinxing Held under a land use right foraterm  Car park 100% 128.70
Road, Yuyao City, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, The expiring on 12 October 2080
PRC
10, FERIEERTREHSAEEZEEEEER Rt ERERE  BHER (£ 100% 12870
2080410 A 12 B /@M
" An apartment unit (No. 2022) of Dacheng Mingzuo, located Held under a land use right foraterm  Commercial service 100% 165.04
at No. 7 Ningan Road Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou City, expiring on 14 December 2051 and office
Zhejiang Province, The PRC
11 FERMIATMTRLEZERR 7 RANGE—ELE RELHERERE B8R AERBR 100% 165.04
B (2022%) 2051612 A 14 BIEm /N
FREREEERLH

61

2022F 7



DIRECTORS REPORT
BEFEEWME

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 32 to financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked
agreement entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws of Cayman Islands, distributable reserves of
the Company as of 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
RMB288.7 million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB322.2 million).

DIRECTORS

The following is the list of Directors during the year and up to the date of
this annual report.

Brief biographies of the current Directors of the Group are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report.

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Zhihua
Ms. Jin Keli

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin
Mr. Huang Anxin
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Pursuant to Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company, the
office of a director shall be vacated if the director, among other things,
without special leave of absence from the Board, is absent from meetings
of the Board for six consecutive months, and his alternate director, if any,
shall not during such period have attended in his stead and the Board
resolves that his office be vacated.

Pursuant to Articles 84 of the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr.
Liu Jian, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral and Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin shall
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) in force
for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year 2022 and as at the date
of approval of this Directors’ report, pursuant to which the Company shall
indemnify any Director against any liability, loss suffered and expenses
incurred by the Director in connection with any legal proceedings in which
he/she is involved by reason of being a Director, except in any case where
the matter in respect of which indemnification is sought was caused by the
fraud or dishonesty of the Directors. The Company has maintained
insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against the Directors arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During the year 2022,
no claims were made against the Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

There were no contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries and holding company was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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STATUS OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (‘Listing
Rules”). Based on such confirmations, the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,
or which otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

(i) Long position in Shares

BMFRHITESHARR

ARRBE B ZIBILIFAITE FRIZM R PIES
ERANT iR ) 5313 163 H /0 08 7 1
R - BENAFHERK - NARRBPIABILIE
HITESNABIAL -

EERRSTHRAERRG - HER
D RESFAER

HE202F128318 2 REBEANKAT]
SEMEEEE(EEREEEENEBFR
HEGO([HBHRBERS ) EXVER) BRD - 18
AR REHTHEERIEES RIS KGIE 352 15
AFEMERLMATREE: - SURE ETARBIATE
MBTAERETESF R ZHHIZETAAMNG A
NE MR R T

LS
AR B RABRRRR 15 1S

(i) ROTPHEFR

Approximate
Capacity in which interests Number of percentage
Name of Director were held shares of interest
EEpnA FEREENSH R E BMOEZEDL
Mr. Liu Jian Founder of discretionary trust, Interest 475,314,000 55.62%
in controlled corporation
Bkt PREAIA - RITEEER
Note: BEE -

M Dawngate Limited (“Dawngate”) holds 40% of the issued share
capital of Qichang International Limited ("Qichang”) and is taken to
be interested in all the shares of Qichang and all the Shares of the
Company held by Qichang for the purposes of Part XV of the SFO. The
issued share capital of Dawngate is held as to 15% by Mr. Liu and 85%
by Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited as trustee of the Liu Family Trust. Being
the settlor of the Liu Family Trust, Mr. Liu is taken to be interested in all
the Shares of the Company that the Liu Family Trust is interested
under Part XV of the SFO.

As of 31 December 2022, none of the Directors nor their associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debenture
of the Company or any associated corporations.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
with any individual, firm or body corporate during the year 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding company was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year 2022, no Directors had an interest in any business which
competes or may compete with the business in which the Group is
engaged.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) was
entered into by Mr. Liu Jian, Dawngate Limited and Qichang International
Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) in favor of the
Company on 5 November 2015, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders will not, and will procure any of its/his associates and any
company directly or indirectly controlled by he/it (not include any member
of the Group) not to either on his/its own or in conjunction with any body
corporate, partnership, joint venture or other contractual agreement,
whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, carry on, participate
in, hold, engage in, acquire or operate, or provide any form of assistance to
any person, firm or company (except members of the Group) to conduct
any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with
the business presently carried on by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any other business that may be carried on by any of them from time to
time during the term of the Deed of Non-competition, in Hong Kong or
China and such other places as the Company or any of its subsidiaries may
conduct or carry on business from time to time, including but not limited
to provision of property management services, residential community 020
business and other related services.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As of 31 December 2022, the register of substantial shareholders 72022412 831 8 + KR SR IE B 5 & & 155
maintained by the Company under section 336 of the SFO recorded that 336§ FEMN T ERB LM - U TEE (K
the following entities, other than the Directors of the Company, had an A A EEBKRIN R QA RIHIRGH SRR R %S

interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as follows: AT R
Long positions sy
Number of
Shares/ Approximate
Capacity and underlying percentage
Name of shareholder nature of interest Shares of interest
B 13,18 R8 MRS
BRRMEEB SO RERMTE RH B BOk
Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited Trustee 475,314,000 55.62%
ZFEA
Dawngate Limited Interest in controlled corporation 475,314,000? 55.62%
JBEBR QR R AR
Qichang International Limited Beneficial owner 475,314,000 55.62%
MEBRKRER AR En#EAA
Greentown Service Beneficial owner 159,571,300 18.67%
AR TS EnlaA
Notes: B 5T -

(1) Theissued share capital of Dawngate is held as to 15% by Mr. Liu and 85% by (1)
Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited as trustee of the Liu Family Trust, a trust with Mr.
Liu as founder and established in accordance with the laws of the Cayman
Islands. The discretionary beneficiaries of the Liu Family Trust include Mr. Liu
and immediate family members of Mr. Liu.

) Dawngate holds 40% of the issued share capital of Qichang and is taken to )
be interested in all shares of the Company held by Qichang for the purposes
of Part XV of the SFO. Each of Suiya Investment Limited, Signgain Limited and
Onsure Limited, being the wholly-own investment holding company of Ms.
Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and Mr. Long Weimin respectively, holds 20% of
the issued share capital of Qichang.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not enter into
any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which
need to be disclosed in this annual report under Rule 14A.49 of the Listing
Rules.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group'’s major suppliers are sub-contractors providing relevant services
for the Group's property management and sales assistance business lines.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 7.9% (2021: 7.7%) of the Group's total
purchases, and the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 9.6% (2021: 11.5%) of the Group's total purchases.

The major customers of our property management business line include
property developers, property owners and property owners’ associations,
while the major customers of the sales assistance business line include
property developers. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
largest customer accounted for approximately 1.1% (2021: 0.9%) of the
Group's revenue, and the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 4.4% (2021: 3.6%) of the Group's revenue.

At all times during the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders of the Company which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had an interest
in any of the five largest suppliers or customers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate.

The remuneration committee of the Company reviews and makes
recommendations to the Board on terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 9 to financial statements of
this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholder.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no shares were repurchased.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed herein, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report’ of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants. A
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM of the Company to
re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company and to authorise
the Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 April 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place,
979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY =i

To the shareholders of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong Ao Home
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 79 to 219 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirement of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B2 AR S

EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of
our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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EY:

Key audit matters

BREETEER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

AW AEETPEERRETER

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables

B 5 WA K 2 A B WA KR E

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of trade receivables
amounted to RMB603,590,000 and the related provision for
impairment amounted to RMB107,430,000. In addition, the balance
of other receivables amounted to RMB319,590,000 and the related
provision for impairment amounted to RMB61,474,000. For the
trade receivables, management recognised an impairment
provision based on the expected credit loss (ECL) model under
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) 9 Financial
Instruments. The measurement of ECLs requires the application of
management’s significant judgement and estimation, such as the
existence of disputes, historical payment record, forward-looking
factors and any other available information. Meanwhile, for the
other receivables, management recognised an impairment
provision based on the general approach. The measurement
requires management to assess whether there is any significant
increase in credit risk. Therefore, we identified it as a key audit
matter.

202212 A31 B - BHREWFIEZ#H A AR 603,590,000
7T TAERE R R E R A AR 107,430000 7T © BEAN - Efth
JE W TR T B0 4 4 A A R B 319,500,000 7T KRB B 1B A B4
ARM614740007C - LE ZERKFIAME - ERERES
ARG HREEN((EBMBREREYN DF R [eMIE|E
THRACEBE(EREEER) EXERREEE - 12
BHEEEER  EREFTERASAAG KRG - flnE
BEFEFH  BENNRLE  ARMEREER - UREAEM
ABER - AR - ptEMEKIANS - ERERE RS
EERRMERE - STEEREBENEEERRES A EM
FRELEI - Et - AR RERERSEIE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 4, 24 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRI EM AL S TSI RRMTE3 ~ 4 24K 25

We checked the accuracy of the ageing of trade receivables
and other receivables and assessed the assumptions applied,
including existence of disputes, historical payment records,
historical credit loss experience and forward-looking factors.
We obtained and tested the historical observed default rates
prepared by management. We also assessed the adequacy of
the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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EY:

Key audit matters

BREETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

AFMAEETPEERRETER

Valuation of investment properties

REMENLE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB180,713,000. The Group recorded a net fair value
loss of RMB49,000 for the year, which has been determined with
reference to the valuations performed by an independent firm of
professionally qualified valuers using the market approach. The
valuation of the investment properties involves significant
estimates and key assumptions on items such as the selection of
comparable properties and market price.

R202F12A31H EEENREMERARYK
1807130007t BEEEHEBRAFELAFLFEBRARK
490007C * NBREXBIEX S ERMEEMITEA TR EM
EITHEMET - REVENGES FERAILLRYE KT
HEREIEE N E AT RERER -

In the absence of current prices in an active market for appropriate
similar properties, the Group considers information from a variety
of sources, including current prices in an active market for
properties of a different nature, condition or location, less active
market transactions and discounted cash flows of rental income.
ERBRABEMENERTSNHRTEBRBEALT X E5EEZE
BREZETRIRBNER  BETRAME  REKCER
MERERTSERNER  RNEBTSERHIESRAFER
IWE °

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HEARBEAASRAMBERERMEEI 4 K15

2 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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We examined the objectivity, independence and competence
of the external valuers. We checked the property related
information and involved our valuation specialists to assist us
in reviewing and assessing the underlying assumptions
adopted by the valuers in their valuations, such as the
selection of comparable properties, market price and
discounted cash flows of rental income.
RATRERINE A ERM A ZENE - B REERES - K
Fig & YIS A8RA(E B AAZR H (HEZE K BB R KaT
A EMNE A EMMRANEBRR - ERALERY
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Key audit matters

BREETEER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

AW AEETPEERRETER

Impairment of goodwill

BENRE

The Group recorded goodwill of RMB243,550,000 as at 31
December 2022 arising from the acquisitions of businesses. The
related provision for impairment amounted to RMB18,268,000.
R20202F12A31H EEEERFUBEBNBEARE
243,550,000 7T ° HRBARER B R AR 18,268,000 7T °

Management is required to assess goodwill impairment on an
annual basis. The impairment reviews performed by the Group's
management include a number of significant judgements and
estimates including those regarding the identification of cash-
generating units ("CGU"), operating profit forecasts, perpetuity
growth rates and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions
may have a significant impact on the impairment assessment.
EREEEASFAHRNERNE - EXEETEEETHRER
MBRREETERHG MG  BREERCELEML((RE
EEEN)#R - EERFTER kBB RERRE - Z
ERBOEB A RETEELEETATE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HEARBEAASFEMBRERMEEI 4 K17

We obtained an understanding of management's impairment
model for goodwill and reviewed the key assumptions
adopted by management, including those regarding CGU
identification, operating profit forecasts, perpetuity growth
rates and discount rates. We tested the mathematical
calculation of the forecasts and carrying values in
management’s impairment model and compared
management’s estimate of the recoverable amount with the
carrying amount of each CGU.

RARERE T REARBRERN L TR EIRE MM
FARERR EEZSARBNNESELSMN  KEHT
TR K ABRENITEE « RPTAIH TR K AREE
RERERERAPOHBETE - WiEIEE LA KA
RN ESRELBUMNREELR -

We compared short and long-term growth rates with the
historical trends. We also considered the results of
management’s prior period forecasts. We involved our
valuation specialists to assist us in assessing the perpetuity
growth rate and discount rate for each CGU by comparing
with past performance and relevant risk factors. We assessed
the sensitivity analysis performed by the Company’s
management on the impact of changes in the key
assumptions.

RS EERREREEFE L BB - AFATERE
EIREESTEANAER - RNETIWINAGEZER BTG
ERGELBUAKABRERTRE - HFARLERA
EXRBREBRREER - AFFE EQFERELET
ERRARBRREDNTENGUREIN

GEREST PR
- /“/?‘E:?’; 73



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B2 AR S

EY:

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the management discussion and analysis
on pages 12 to 30, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the other sections of the Annual Report not including the
consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon (“the
Other Sections’), which are expected to be made available after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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EY:

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B2 AR S

EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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EY:

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B2 AR S

EY:

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SreiRmK

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZE 20229 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BT AR¥T AREEFIT
REVENUE Ik & 6 1,702,395 1,873,533
Cost of sales and services tHE MRS A A (1,345,040) (1,440,794)
Gross profit ER 357,355 432,739
Other income and gains E AU R Wz 6 55,794 51,088
Selling and distribution expenses HE N D ERX (5,014) (12,361)
Administrative expenses THHZ (210,135) (227,316)
Net impairment losses recognised on MR EERRRERSIEFE
financial assets (54,102) (32,307)
Other expenses HEmAZ (12,877) (18,600)
Finance costs EUpi DN 8 (2,883) (6,378)
Share of profits and losses of: FEMR AT FIE K E518
Joint ventures BENE 3,167 2,824
Associates ERSR/NE 1,309 1,194
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR%% A1 F 7 132,614 190,883
Income tax expenses FTiS B2 11 (43,564) (58,844)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 89,050 132,039
Attributable to: AT A&, -
Owners of the parent SARHEA A 13 76,907 106,282
Non-controlling interests FEIE PR RE RS 12,143 25,757
89,050 132,039
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBEREE AR
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS SRERN
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted HEARKRES
— For profit for the year (RMB) — FAME(ARET) 13 0.090 0.124
PREREEERAA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reEERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 20229 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R FIE 89,050 132,039
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME H 2 E R
Other comprehensive income that may REBEARI R ge BT D EHE B EAth
be reclassified to profit or loss 2EWE
in subsequent periods:
Revaluation gains on transfer from property BN R IEEREEREMENBHIER
and equipment to investment properties - 707
Income tax effect st s - (186)
Net other comprehensive income that may REEHRRAIENHEEEsEMmEm
be reclassified to profit or loss Was 558
in subsequent periods - 521
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREMEE K (FIRRHIR)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX - 521
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FAZEKSEAE
FOR THE YEAR 89,050 132,560
Attributable to: AN ARG -
Owners of the parent SYNEIEZZEDN 76,907 106,803
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M = 12,143 25,757
89,050 132,560

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POS
SRe IR R

TION

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BT AR¥T AREEFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FkRBEE
Property and equipment Y EYNE L 14 118,001 139,624
Investment properties WE Y 15 180,713 178,012
Right-of-use assets BREEE 16 10,111 10,365
Goodwill EES 17 225,282 302,642
Prepayments for acquisition of properties L B 4 26 O TR A< SRR 18 14,092 14,206
Investments in joint ventures REERERNKRE 19 5,499 5,153
Investments in associates REEE N AR E 20 7,592 6,283
Other intangible assets HEhEREE 21 50,919 59,961
Long-term deposits EHRS 14,746 2435
Deferred tax assets RETRIRE = 2 60,082 56,506
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 687,037 775,187
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 23 5,588 50,261
Trade receivables 2 5 el IE 24 496,160 410,513
Prepayments and other receivables T8 < 7R T8 K B A JE U R 25 314,607 500,982
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  #Z A AT AR SR EE 26 7,676 14,076
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEBY 27 446,052 436,464
Total current assets REEEAE 1,270,083 1,412,296
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Trade payables 2 Z IER IR 28 100,782 96,392
Other payables and accruals HEM RN RIE N ERTE B 29 671,489 832,098
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SHERITREMER 30 48,990 41,097
Lease liabilities HEBE 16, 30 10,528 9,944
Tax payables FERTRRIE 108,051 126,792
Total current liabilities A=t ot 939,840 1,106,323
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEETE 330,243 305,973
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBEME 1,017,280 1,081,160
PREREEERAA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE B BMIRR

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE AR¥T T ARETTT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIEBE 22 28,526 22,366
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERITREMBER 30 - 14,859
Lease liabilities HEBE 16,30 1,825 2,877
Other long-term payables Hth = BRFE S 5B 31 - 57,953
Total non-current liabilities FREE EREE 30,351 98,055
NET ASSETS EEFE 986,929 983,105
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS BARHEE AELER
OF THE PARENT
Share capital A% A 32 7,082 7,082
Reserves HiE 33 909,508 892,173
916,590 899,255
Non-controlling interests VAR e A 70,339 83,850
TOTAL EQUITY XA 986,929 983,105
Liu Jian Liang Bing
2= RE
Director Director
EF E2

2 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

/\‘/T\

Z N I%Em

¢4F N\ 7/

EHR

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SAGEZIN
Capital Asset Share Non-
Issued Share  redemption  Statutory Other  revaluation Special option Retained Sub- controling Total
cpital  premium eserve eserve eserve feserve feserve eserve profits total  interests equity
BAEL BEE(
BEARA  REE B EERE AR e HRE BRERE REEN Nt EBRER  4ER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000
ARETT ARMTT ARBTT ARBTL ARETR ARETT ARETR AREBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETT ARETR
Asat 1 January 2021 B202151 718 7,082 443187 48 61,288 14000 1030 (36053) 19879 303,865 814326 77000 891426
Profitfor the year ERFIE - - - - - - - - 106282 106282 BT 132039
Other comprehensive income ENEMRERE :
forthe year:
Revaluation gains on transfer BMERSEERERE
from property and equipment to nENSHEKR
investment properties = = = = = 521 = = = 521 = 521
Total comprehensive income FREENRER
forthe year: = = = = = 521 = = 106,282 106,803 25757 132,560
Acquisition of a subsiiary hE-HRELR - - - - - - 1,009 - - 1009 7857 8866
Capital invested by non-controlling FEREREAANTE
equityholders - - - - - - - - - - 8075 8075
Dividends paid to non-controlling BRIEERERRE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (4093) (4093)
Dividends declared EERKE = (2133 - - - - - - - 21332 - 2133
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHBAR - - - - - (1551) - - - (1551 (084 (32397)
Transfer of share option reserve upon the  REERRIER R 2|k E
forfeiture or expiry of share options SERERE - - - - - - - (19879) 19879 - - -
Transfer from retained profits ERAREER - - - 16240 - - - = (16240) = = =
Asat 31 December 2021 ®2021%128318 7,082 421855* 48 77528 14,000 = (35,044)% - 413786* 899,255 83850 983,105
Attributable to owners of the parent
BLAAREARL
Capital Non-
Issued Share  redemption Statutory Other Special Retained Sub-  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits total interests equity
ExEE
BRIRA RBEE @ EERE Rt RHIGRE REEH Mt FERER s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARMTR  AR%TR  ARETR ARMTR  AR¥TR
Asat 1January 2022 #202%1818 7,082 421,855* 48* 77,528* 14,000% (35,044)% 413,786* 899,255 83,850 983,105
Profit and comprehensive income FRFEREHZERA
for the year - - - - - 76,907 76,907 12,143 89,050
Capital contribution by non-controlling  FERRIER A AEE
equityholders - - - - - - - 6,885 6,885
Dividend paid BRS - (17,869) - - - - (17,869) - (17,869)
Dividends to non-controlling- BRFERRRRBRE
shareholders - - - - - - - (7,070) (7,070)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HENBAR (M) - - - - - - - - (7132) (7132)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  WEEFF2RR#EZS - - - - - (41,703) - (41,703) (18,337) (60,040)
Transfer from retained profits BRARBER - - - 13,955 - (13,955) - - -
Asat 31 December 2022 ®202512A318 7,082 403,986* 48* 91,483* 14,000% (76,747)* 476,738* 916,590 70,339 986,929
@ These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated other reserves of ~ * ZEREROERSMBIRARNEGS Hi#E

RMB909,508,000 (2021: RMB892,173,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

JT) °

FREREEERAD A
2022F 7R

A R # 909,508,000 7T (2021 4F : A R # 892,173,000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A TRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 20229 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 5
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B sE AR¥T T ARETTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REKETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: BRETATAE 132,614 190,883
Adjustments for: AT ZIHAE :
Fair value loss/(gains) on investment properties &% A FEEE,
(M=) 15 49 (1,825)
Depreciation of items of property and MERZEBEERE
equipment 14 27,507 25,495
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEERTE 16 2,682 10,287
Amortisation of intangible assets EFEEEE 21 11,917 12,977
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEMERERBER N
property and equipment, net BB, () 7 164 (751)
Loss on disposal of investment properties HERBYEEE - 1,250
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 R IE R E 24 19,320 19,044
Impairment of goodwiill [EEEAE] 17 14,987 -
Impairment of prepayments, deposits AR - 12e REMER
and other receivables FIRRVE 25 20,670 12,388
(Reversal)/provision for impairment of FERE(ER), #E
inventories 23 (875) 875
Share of profits of joint ventures JEiEAaZhERE (3,167) (2,824)
Share of profits of associates FE(R S R~ Bl F) (1,309) (1,194)
Fair value adjustment of contingent HAREBZRAFERAEE
consideration 4,452 82
Finance costs EUE DN 8 2,453 5,063
Net foreign exchange loss/(gains) (BN B R (Wes) B8 7 727 (257)
Other interest income from financial assets BRATEFT A B
at fair value through profit or loss B RVE EFTS EALR S
WA 6 (931) (746)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR A (W)
it 35 (8,369) 9,821
Bank interest income RITH B UL A 6 (6,510) (3939
216,381 276,629
Increase in inventories FEEM 23 (21,371) (15,504)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e W IE IS N (130,120) (105,450)
Increase in prepayments and other receivables &1~ 5X I8 & H 4t g U
SRIFHL AN (5,361) (111,482)
(Decrease)/increase in other long-term payable — E b & BiE 3018 Gl 4>)
/i it (57,953) 57,953
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B 5 RIEE I, Cri4) 62,974 (1,926)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables E b A M BT E A
and accruals #h0, G ) 77,877 (32,398)
Cash generated from operations REMBHRS 142,427 67,822
Tax paid EAIFEIE (58,899) (33,990)
Net cash flows from operating activities REKEETHNRERETE 83,528 33,832

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,m iﬁim@i%

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZE 20229 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

B E AR®BFT ARBTE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREFHNRESRE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property HEMEREBATSKIE

and equipment 2,865 1,200
Purchases of items of property and equipment ~ BE B #% & R #5718 B (20,082) (48,572)
Prepayments of items of property and equipment ¥ 3£ K 5% &8 B Ay T8~ 708 114 (200)
Addition to investment properties AR EY 15 (1,227) (56)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEVAE 21 (2,875) (2,547)
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB B A a) - 444
Investment in associates REEZ N RIRE 20 - (300)
Investment in joint ventures REERERE 19 - (650)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets TE’&?TEEI‘)\TE\@EI’\J

at fair value through profit or loss SRMEERLD, (M) 26 250 (750)
Interest income received B YF B A 6,510 3,896
Disposal of investment properties HEREYE 15 - 1,500
Dividend received from a joint venture WHLE —EEEDEMNRE 19 2,821 2,551
Other interest income from financial assets BATEFABRD

at fair value through profit or loss BRbE EATS A M WA 6 931 746
Acquisition of non-controlling interests L B FE42E R e 2 (59,000) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—KMEAR 35 1,236 495
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEZHMARESRETHE (68,457) (42,243)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES HRERMEEFHNEERE
New bank loans HIEIRITE K 57,895 68,550
Repayment of bank loans BERITEN (44,049) (88,718)
Interest paid BEARFLE (2,453) (3.569)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRN AL H 16 (2,896) (10,068)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests JE¥%IXfE 2 B )£ & 6,885 8,075
Dividends paid BERARE 12 (17,869) (21,332)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders EHE‘H Hxﬂx?ﬂ']ﬂx (2,270) (4,093)
Net cash flows used in financing activities RIS EEMARESRETHE (4,757) (51,155)

§| = &5 /\E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

“/ 3 Eﬁﬁ//lbi%

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 20229 12 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 £
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARETIT

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND REeRHELZEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS i CEd) BEE 10,315 (59,566)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year i%}]Zfﬁ\% FIEESEED 436,464 495,773
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net PE R 4 B 1) = 25 SR 58 (727) 257
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERZAESRESEEY

END OF YEAR 446,052 436,464
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERRESENERDIIT

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in B IS AR R R FT513R € M 3R &

the statement of financial position EEY 446,052 436,464
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ASSTATED B2 REXRFIHIELRES

IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Z(EY) 446,052 436,464

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEEHR
Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated FRIREEAR A (AT ])R2015
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the FIASARERSHERAREZEREHS
Cayman Islands under the Cayman Islands Companies Law on 5 ek R B A—HEREBRAR o R
January 2015. The registered office address of the Company is P.O. A 7 3 = R &Y b 3k A P.O. Box 2681,
Box 2681, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands. KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ©
During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal TR REEBRAPEARILME([HE]) K
activities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"): =N EBEHRE
provision of property management services Rt EE ERT
provision of sales assistance services TR 17 SH AR 75
provision of cleaning and greening services B2 M4k LARTE
provision of real estate consulting and agency services REEHE A MR ERT
In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s immediate and BEERE AR EERKEIERA R AR
ultimate holding company is Qichang International Limited EBRBERAR(TKE]D @ Z2aaA—HER
(“Qichang”), a limited liability company incorporated in the British HERELHES ((RBELEE |) MK Z8
Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). BRAT] -
Information about subsidiaries EEMBARNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: AR EBHEARIMFFBWOT :
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to the Company
registration registered FAREEERE DL
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
R, BRTLE/
£ ZRREELS AR B M IEER
Zhong Ao Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands usD1 100% - Investment holding
RERZERERAF HEERLES B REER
BRAAYXERFRAF PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
(‘Guangdong Zhong Ao")* management services
ERPANEEEERAF HE/HER, AR 100,000,000 70 REMEEE RS
([ERFPRE]
MK EEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB11,000,000 = 100%  Provision of property
(‘Zhejiang Yongcheng')* management services
KRR EEERAF HE B R, ARH11,0000007T REMEEE RSB
([T AR
RREREEERLD A

3/
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ¥R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAREEER @
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBHRBATINER (&)
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/  attributable to the Company
registration registered AAFEGERE D
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
HEMRL BRTEE/
28 ERRERLH AR A J=§:3 M TEER
IR R B 2R AR A A PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 = 100%  Provision of property
("Foshan Pairuier’) * management services
BRI 2RBER DA B/ B it AR 50,000,0007T REDEERRE
([ LR E ) *
HENIXRREREYFEZERARARF  PRCUMainland China RMB32,352,941 = 66%  Provision of property
("Suzhou House Construction”) management services
FNIXERZEMFERARAR  BE/DENG AR#32352041 T REMEERRE
([EMNEE )"
BRERREIZARAA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
(‘Guangdong Huarui’) management services
BRERRZEIRERAA HE /B, AR 20000000 70 R EEE R
([RERER])!
ERAESREMERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,100,000 - 100%  Provision of engineering
(‘Guangdong Xunhua’) ¢ services
ERAESRRMABRAF HRE/HRER, AR#10,100,000 7 RETREY
([ERAE])"
EREMBBENEREERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
(‘Ningbo Reston’) * management services
BERENEBENEREEBEAA HE/HER, AR 50000007 REUMEERRS
([EREHE])
ERREREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
("Jinan Kuaiqin") * management services
EERORBERAF HE /B, AR 30000000 70 REYEEERB
([ERRE )"

38

Foshan Pairuier are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
under PRC law and the registered capital of Foshan Pairuier has been
fully paid up.

# The subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

During the year, the Group disposed of certain subsidiaries. Further
details of the disposal of the above subsidiaries are included in note
35 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs") (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (‘FVTPL") and other long-term payables which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi ("RMB") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e,, existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

2.1

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B
AAREEER &)

BEENMBLRNER (&)

FR - AKEHEETHBRR - BE Lt
B R R — S BN M R M
35¢

EREVNESRATEREAEEFERSE
BRARBDEEFENANRBMBAF -
E=RR/IHEMHBRRNFEREHR
8T °

R AL

ZEPBRRIVIZBRBETMAS ([FHE
B AE ) BEM BB BHRESEL(F
AMBREER]) (BEMEREMBRE
R FEet £ ((FREER ) ki
B) ZEEBRMZEFRARERBRA
EPI 2 MBREMMRmEL - ZFHMBHRERTIR
BESLKABHERE  EREWE  EQ
FEFABG((EAFEFARRE ) 22/
BEMEMRBEMNFANZ A FENE -
ZEMBFREANARE ARSI -

Tk SEERAIN  ABREHAEEREN
B TFAIL «
mERE

REVBBRREEARDLEWNB AR (5
HIAER])EE202F12A831HIEEE
ZHBHRE - MB AR AANA R HiEkEE
THl s BEE(BIELAEEER) EAEEY
SEIGEHRER 2 F BRI HRAER R =
EREFAREEREIREH R 2E N (AR
EEER TIR AN AT EREHERIARE
g B FRER) L 2% E R A - BIEEE
HilHE o

FREREEERA A
202255,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

2.1

90

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first

time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

92

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework") issued in
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIO)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather
than assumed in a business combination, an entity applying
HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As
there were no contingent assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities within the scope of the amendments arising in the
business combination that occurred during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group
has applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or
after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

22 ETHERERBESE 2)

4

L

BRI EAHBHREEHEE RFEIIR

T

(@)

BANEwEERNFE IR UESFTA) A
2018F 6 A M AR B B & =
HEZE ([ #2242 SR |) BRAR B 2k 5t A B 7%
MEABEREZINIER - MBEKNEE
WEERT - ZZ BTN EBHE
A AR 28 3 SR g E B R I BT SAE SR A
ETBKEERBEBELRNAZERER
Bl 3 2% —TE B MBS o sZ FIIME AR
E o HRABEBREB S EAE37
SRk EE (BRI B EREEEE)—
ZEFVNBEANEBERIAREE
mE ' WizSaEBEBEEMIER
TEESHFEL  AERBBMBR
SRR FEIFNEREDFIRERES
ST2ERIZE 37 5 s B (B B S5 i s 22
BZEe) -R2EE 219 MIEMIE
Z8o AN RFERTBEBHRAREER
I g B EIAFF & RGN - AKEE
R 2022F1 A1 B2 BEENER
AOtRTEMIERZEEETA - AR
MEIAEE  BERFAZEENFE
HAPHERTSE AR B E - %
ZERT AT 2 A& B/ B AR &
REEATAFE -

BB S ERE 16 (BRI AR) £ ILE
BEME  BEEREEENKAF
MR EEEDEEEEE /A E Ak
RE(BREMBEGMY) BREFEEANIE
BEEEMAFERIE-. MmERABE
MZEEENEERMSRERESS
FTERIE 2RIFEFT A EMZERE B
RAET AEE o AEE 2 H ) 2021 F1
A1BgZ & EERNDE - BE &
REBEBPEBZEERA - AR
EWE - BEREZEAEER 2130
BEREMEENIEE  MZSBEITA
TEHAEBNT AR RKRIRESE
EfRIRZE -



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to contracts for which it has not
yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there was no
modification or exchange of the Group’s financial
liabilities during the year, the amendment did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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2.3

94

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
— Comparative Information®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)>*
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction'
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised
to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

S As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised
in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed
by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3

96

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or
non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement
of the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the
2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. In addition,
the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3

98

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date. In
addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates
or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.
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3.

100

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

()

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

106

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease

terms and their useful lives

Furniture and fixtures 20% to 33%%
Motor vehicles 10% to 33%%
Telecomunications 14%

equipment

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property and equipment
and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-use
assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and
equipment and depreciation” above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The
useful lives of other intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Software and trademark

Purchased software and trademark are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

Acquired property management contracts

Acquired property management contracts are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the sum of the years digits
basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

110

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. The cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings 2 to 10 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or
a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment that is
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group'’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e, removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third-party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings or
payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
other long-term payable, lease liabilities and Interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of
profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or
losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented
in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and other long-term payable are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (Continued)

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of certain
industrial products and the provision of construction services for
general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty period.
Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the Group
are recognised based on sales volume and past experience of the
level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a)  Provision of property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(b) Provision of sales assistance services

Revenue from the sales assistance services is recognised when
the relevant services are rendered and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.

(c)  Provision of cleaning and greening services

Revenue from cleaning and greening services is recognised
when the relevant services are rendered and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(d)

(e)

()

126

Provision of real estate consulting and agency services

Revenue from real estate consulting and agency services is
recognised at a point in time when the service is rendered and
the property buyer has executed the sale and purchase
agreement and made the required payments according to the
terms and conditions stated in different agency contracts,
since only by that time the Group has an enforceable right to
payment from the property developers for the services
performed.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Installation services

The Group provides installation services that are either sold
separately or bundled together with the sale of industrial
products to a customer. The installation services can be
obtained from other providers and do not significantly
customise or modify the industrial products.

Contracts for bundled sales of industrial products and
installation services are comprised of one performance
obligation because the promises to transfer the products and
provide installation services are not capable of being distinct
and separately identifiable. Accordingly, the transaction price
is allocated based on the bundled selling prices of the
products and installation services.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial
assets.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a
contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (‘equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 14% to 20% of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising
on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e, translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are currencies other
than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of certain subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of certain subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect
the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from
contracts with customers:

(i)

134

Identifying performance obligations in multiple underlying
activities of property management services

The Group provides property management services which
comprised multiple underlying activities to the customers (i.e,,
security, maintenance, cleaning, landscaping, administrative
and support services).

While each of these activities are individually capable of being
distinct, the Group determined that they are not distinct
within the context of the contract because the ultimate
objective of the management services is to perform any
activities that are necessary to ensure that the properties are
operating as intended. In addition, the Group determined that
the management services represent a series of services that
are substantially the same and have the same pattern of
transfer to the customers over the term of the contract. Each
distinct service represents a performance obligation that
would be satisfied over time (i.e., over the length of the
contract, not at a point in time) and has the same measure of
progress (e.g., time elapsed). Consequently, the Group
determined the multiple underlying activities of property
management services to be accounted for as a single
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4,
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)  Determining the method to estimate variable consideration
and assessing the constraint for property management
services

The Group gives discount to the customers as a strategy to
improve the cash collection of property management fees,
which give rise to variable consideration. The Group
determined that the expected value method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for reductions in property management
services, given that there is a wide range of possible outcomes
which are subject to specific cases and negotiations with
customers.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined
that the estimates of variable consideration are not
constrained based on its historical experience, current
negotiations with customers and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life
of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the commercial property, that it retains substantially all the
significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these
properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group
accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be
sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Significant
judgements and estimates are involved in the identification of cash-
generating units, operating profit forecasts, perpetuity growth rates
and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions can result in
material differences in impairment charges or available headroom.
Further details are given in note 17.

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value — in-use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and other receivables. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables and other receivables is disclosed in note 24 and note 25
to the financial statements, respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR
therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or
when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s
stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the losses can be utilised. Significant management estimation is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further details
are contained in note 22 to the financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The valuation of the investment properties involved estimation and
assumption on items such as the selection of comparable properties

and market price.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of sources
for estimation of fair value of investment properties, including:

(@)

current prices in an active market for properties of a different
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those
differences; and

recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of any
existing lease and other contracts and (when possible) by
external evidence such as current market rents for similar
properties in the same location and condition, and using
discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the
uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurements, are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on different lines of services rendered in the PRC as
follows:

(a)

The Group primarily provides property developers and
property owners with a broad range of property management
services for mainly residential properties, and commercial and
government buildings. Services provided by the Group
include standard property management services and ancillary
services;

The Group provides property management services to
property developers for their sales centres. The services
rendered by the Group include the cleaning, security and
maintenance for their model houses and sales centres and the
provision of general assistance to facilitate the sales process of
the properties;

The Group provides property developers and property owners
with a series of indoor and outdoor environmental cleaning,
greening and maintenance services. This business division also
provides services to the property developers and property
owners of the property management business division.
Accordingly, segment results of cleaning and greening
division are evaluated by the Group’s management on services
as subcontracted from the property management business
division;

The Group provides property and real estate customers and
investors with real estate information consulting services, real
estate brokerage and consulting services, real estate marketing
planning, house leasing, real estate investment consulting
services as well as agency services for obtaining property
ownerships; and

Other businesses comprise sales of elevators and installation
services, provision of security services, consulting services,
engineering services, catering services and the sale of
engineering spare parts.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment revenue and
profit (which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax). The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group's profit
before tax except that bank interest income, other interest income
from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, changes in
fair value of investment properties, fair value adjustment of
contingent consideration, net foreign exchange loss, share of profits
of joint ventures, share of profits of associates, net foreign exchange
gains, non-lease-related finance income/costs as well as head
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (other than lease liabilities), other long-term payables,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office
and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Operating segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results based on the types of business:
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Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance and greening and agency Other
business business business business businesses Total
BER  EHERAR
NEEBER EER BER REER HthER @it
For the year ended BZ2202F12A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2022 JI:355 ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue (note 6) Al (o)
Sales to external customers AN R PiE 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 10,256 138,060 1,702,395
Intersegment sales HEEHE 10,038 - 96,084 926 83,399 190,447
1,332,131 15,295 312,775 11,182 221,459 1,892,842
Reconciliation: ik
Elimination of intersegment sales DR HE (190,447)
Revenue Wz 1,702,395
Segment results ABEE 112,951 3,360 40,623 2482 14,280 173,656
Reconciliation: il
Bankinterest income FATFIBIMA 6,510
Other interest income from financial assets  #R/A /Bt A4
at fair value through profit or loss SREER
HFISHRA 931
Changesin fair value of investment properties 1% & #1562 FHEE) (49)
Fair value adjustment of contingent FARELTERE
consideration (4,452)
Net foreign exchange loss EXEETE (727)
Corporate expenses ERY (45,278)
Share of profits of oint ventures FlEEERERE 3,167
Share of profits of associates il NG il 1,309
Finance costs (other than intereston lease ~ BAFAKR (FIEB &
liabilities) FEBRI) (2,453)
Profit before tax BRI 132,614
PRIREERRAA
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RESHER®)
(Continued)
Operating segments (Continued) R NI (E)
Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance and greening and agency Other
business business business business businesses Total
BFER  REHERER
NEERER EES BLER RE£% Hiv¥% -
31 December 2022 20225128318 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment assets PHEE 1,991,702 95,351 218,300 9,721 88,011 2,403,085
Reconciliation: k-
Elimination of intersegment receivables DRI (978,833)
Corporate and other unallocated assets CEREMKIREE 532,868
Total assets AERE 1,957,120
Segment liabilities AHEE 1,160,891 46,368 146,558 6,950 73,016 1,433,783
Reconciliation: HhE -
Elimination of intersegment payables B D SmENZUR (978,833)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities % REM AN EE 515,241
Total liabilities BfEfRE 970,191
Other segment information Hh 5 R
Share of profits and losses of; FEFIBRES :
Joint ventures LMY 3,167 - N - - 3,167
Associates N 1,309 - - - - 1,309
Net impairment losses recognised RERARRHE
in profit or loss BEFE 46,278 1,338 1,151 352 4,983 54,102
Depreciation and amortisation TER&H
Unallocated N 1,413
Segment pox: 33,732 1,610 3,693 165 1,493 40,693
Investments in associates REE R ARE 7,592 - - - - 7,592
Investment in joint ventures REELERE 5,499 - - - - 5,499
Capital expenditure* BRFR
Unallocated PR 9%
Segment pox: 19,004 907 2,080 9% 2,004 24,088
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and equipment, * BAREY BIERE YR RRE - A -

BV EERBEMEOANGEA -

investment properties, intangible assets and prepayments for
acquisition of properties.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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HER (&)

(Continued)
Operating segments (Continued) KEDEB(#)
The following table provides an analysis of the Group's revenue and TREFAMILZHEBIRR B D o AEE Wz R
results based on the types of business: BT
Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance and greening and agency Other
business business business business businesses Total
BER  BHEFAR
MEEBER BHE bl REEHB E 3% e
For the year ended 31 H22021F12A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
December 2021 LEE ARETTL ARETFT AREFT ARETL AREFT ARETTL
Segment revenue (note 6) Ak (izEe)
Sales to external customers AN R PHHE 1332054 2499) 155,036 165417 196,034 1873533
Intersegment sales HEEEE 13927 - 96,085 894 150,698 261,604
1,345,981 24992 251121 166,311 346,732 2135137
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment sales A RBEELH (261,604)
Revenue Wi 1873533
Segment results &R 177318 7416 19523 17,681 11,668 233606
Reconciliation: k-
Bankinterest income FAFEMA 3939
Other interest income from financial assets ~ $&/A T{EH A B384
atfair value through profit or loss CREENEMTIS
A 746
Changes in fair value of investment properties &Y ENATEEE) 1825
Fair value adjustment of contingent SAREATERE
consideration 82)
Net foreign exchange gains e %7
Corporate expenses @¥ 353 (48,363)
Share of profits of jint ventures BERENE 2824
Share of profits of associates E YNGRy 1,194
Finance costs (other than interest FRBRA(HERR
on lease liabilities) FSERIN) (5,063)
Profit before tax BRBLAT A 190883
PRIREERRAA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RESHER 2
(Continued)
Operating segments (Continued) KEDER ()
Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance and greening and agency Other
business business business business businesses Total
BER  EHEZAR
NEERER R b3 REEH Hi 2 it
31 December 2021 20215128318 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETFT ARETFL AREFT ARETTL ARETTL
Segment assets SHEE 1846018 105,240 149495 9,341 393,328 2503422
Reconciliation: k-
Elimination of intersegment receivables 5 PREEKGIR (1064.522)
Corporate and other unallocated assets CEREMKIREE 748583
Total assets BEER 2,187,483
Segment liabilities AHEE 1,047,361 64,080 95,707 5718 319697 1532563
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment payables HEH MR (1,064522)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities % RE AN EE 736337
Total liabilities BfESRE 1204378
Other segment information Hth 5 R
Share of profits and losses of: FEFIERES :
Joint ventures LE0E 2824 = = = = 2824
Associates N 1,194 - - - - 1,194
Net impairment losses recognised/ RERMHER/ (EE)
(reversed) in profit or loss BEBETEE 19,408 1634 601 12233 (1,569) 32307
Depreciation and amortisation TER&H
Unallocated N - - - - = 1,669
Segment ok 31,080 25 645 7651 7429 47090
Investments in associates REE R AERE 6283 - - - - 6283
Investment in joint ventures REBhERE 5153 - - - - 5153
Capital expenditure* BRFR
Unallocated FOR 112
Segment pox: 19085 264 2085 528 29341 51,263
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and equipment, * BAREY BIERE YR RRE - A -

investment properties, intangible assets and prepayments for

acquisition of properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(Continued)

Geographical information

Since 100% of the Group's revenue and operating profit were
generated in Mainland China and over 90% of the Group's non-
current assets were located in Mainland China, no geographical
information is presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6.

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B
TR e 227 32 4R s
geESTER (2

I8 E R

FR 7 7N £2 [ 1009% U 35 Kz 45 255 ) 7k 8 =R
A 0 B NS B 580 90% HY 3ER B & EE AL A R
B - MO EAR R BB ISR 4 RSB 8
SRACE D EF2 5 IR E R o

s ~ EAbUA R W

R DT
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARBTE

Revenue from contracts with customers FKEEFE IR
Rendering of services MR 1,692,927 1,810,626
Sales of goods SHE & m 9,468 62,907
1,702,395 1,873,533

TNRARIEEY (47
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Wz - Hib AR (#)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEHMNINE
() Disaggregated revenue information (i) EoFWmEER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F12 831 ALLFE
Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance  and greening and agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
28 EibE
nE BER BAR
EREH [iE R BIEH REXH HthH @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR  AREBTR  ARETRT  ARMTRT  ARMTR  AR¥TR

Typesof goods or services ~ EmERKER

Rendering of services RIS 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 10,256 128,592 1,692,927
Sale of goods HEEM - - - - 9,468 9,468
Total revenue fom contracts —~ RERF A MM

with customers 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 10,256 138,060 1,702,395
Geographical markets bl
Mainland China AR A 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 10,256 138,060 1,702,395
Timing of revenue recognition K& A
Revenue recognised RE-BERERNE

over time 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 - 128,592 1,682,671
Revenue recognised RE-BE SRR

atapoint of time - - - 10,256 9,468 19,724

Total revenue fom contracts ~ RERF A KB
with customers 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 10,256 138,060 1,702,395

—I 48 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6.
(Continued)

Wi - B ARKE @)

REEFEHNHK R (&)
EoFREER (&)
HZ2021F12831ALLEE

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance and greening and agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
D FibE
nE BER FAR
ERXK EESS FILRB REEH A% &t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR%ETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
Typesof goods orservices SR ARHEER
Rendering of services TR AR 1332054 2499 155,036 165417 133127 1810626
Sale of goods HEER - - - - 62,907 62,907
Total revenue from contracts — REBP AN
with customers 1332054 24992 155,036 165417 196,034 1873533
Geographical markets HEME
Mainland China ezl 1332054 24992 155,036 165417 196,034 1873533
Timing of revenue KRR GE
recognition
Revenue recognised RE-BRER RN
over time 1332054 24992 155,036 - 133127 1645209
Revenue recognised RE-BRESRRNE
atapoint of time - - - 165417 62,907 228324
Total revenue fom contracts — RERFAKENE
with customers 1,332,054 24992 155,036 165417 196,034 1873533
HREREEMERAT

2022F 7
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Wy 2

v

Hab A R W)

REEFEHNHKE (&)
EoiFRmEN (&)
HZ2022F 12831 B LLEE

Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance  and greening and agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
28 EiE
nE BER BAR
EBEY [iE R BIEH REXH HthH @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARMTR  AR%TR  ARBTR  ARETR
Revenue from contracts REEFROMNE
with customers
External customers HEER 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 10,256 138,060 1,702,395
Intersegment sales AEEEE 10,038 - 96,084 926 83,399 190,447
Intersegment adjustments 7R
and eliminations (10,038) - (96,084) (926) (83,399) (190,447)
Total revenue fom contracts KRB BF AMEME
with customers 1,322,093 15,295 216,691 10,256 138,060 1,702,395
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZE2021F12 831 ALELFE
Real estate
Property Sales Cleaning consulting
management assistance and greening and agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
D FHE
nE BER HAR
ERER [E RS Bilé 1) REEH Efh %% ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
N S AREFT N S NS NS YN S
Revenue from contracts REEFENNKE
with customers
External customers NbER 1332054 24992 155,036 165417 196,034 1873533
Intersegment sales NEEEE 13,927 - 96,085 894 150,698 261,604
Intersegment adjustments DR R
and eliminations (13927) - (96,085) (894) (150698) (261,604)
Total revenue from contracts — REBPAHEN
with customers 1332054 24992 155,036 165417 196,034 1873533
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6.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

6. Wz HtWARWE 2)

REEFENNWE &)
(i) CoFKBEHE)

TRETRARE BEERO WSS
B EARSHINANEE:

2022
2022 F
RMB’000
ARB TR
Revenue recognised that was included in contract EEfAmEHRYNEGHBENDER
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: Wz
Property management services (note 29) Y35 18 AR s (P 5 29) 261,505
2021
2021 6
RMB'000
ARBTT
Revenue recognised that was included in contract Bt AmEHYNEHBENEER
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: s
Property management services Y2 E B AR TS 123,359

(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Provision of property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

Provision of sales assistance services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

(i) BHEE
BERASEROEENERRARMNT :

RRHYEEERE

B EER IR AR T B A - SRR —
AR BE AR B8 H AR AT 90 A A EIE -

rR R 17 5 AR 7%

BHEERREIRIGRER - A~
AR AR B8 H BAE ST 00 RIS -
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

152

Performance obligations (Continued)
Provision of cleaning and greening services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

Real estate consulting and agency services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
services. The property buyer has executed the sale and
purchase agreement and made the required payments
according to the terms and conditions stated in different
agency contracts and payment is generally due within 60 days
from the date of billing.

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from
customer acceptance of delivered goods.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Wi - Bt AR K )

REEFEHNNWE &)

(i)

BHEEE)
RIHBERRFILIRT

BHE AR RIS R ZAK - IR —
RN AR B H BAE ST 00 AR EHA -

Bt EE A R AR

BHEBERRREEET - WEE
REVEERRLRBIRRESL
ot R R R AR EN R B
MRBEREAERAYEF0RAR
28 -

ERiHEE

BHBETERE R TEER - 5E—
BREFPWEIRNHE R 30E90
KA EIHR o

12022412 A31H KX 2021F12H318 -
PREEHR TROVEE(RETHI DR
BIT) MR ZERIAT :

2022 2021

2022 2021 5

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T R ARETT

Within one year —FER 128,284 203,552
Over one year Bl —F 7,405 57,953
135,689 261,505

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. W= - HiW AR W= @)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) REEFEFEHNHNE @)

(ii) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BREEE)
Sales of goods (Continued) ERHE (&)
All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated to the FMEEMIRERTROEETNRS
remaining performance obligations are expected to be BRcBEHN —FAERSIE -
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed ENEBENSBEYTREZR G AT
above do not include variable consideration which is BB -

constrained.

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREETT ARBT T
Other income Htmlg A
Bank interest income HRITH WA 6,510 3,939
Other interest income from BEAFEFAEENCREERN
financial assets at fair value H A F S WA
through profit or loss 931 746
Rental income WA 9,942 4353
Government grants BT AL 17,903 24214
Others Hib 12,139 15,003
47,425 48,255
Gains g
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKTB AR Rk 8,369 -
Fair value gains on investment WEMERTFE KR
properties - 1,825
Gain on disposal of items of property S Y2 K& IR B Al
and equipment - 751
Net foreign exchange gain b 5 W a5 5E - 257
8,369 2,833
55,794 51,088




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ¥R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

7.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

7. BRBAIRE

AEBEWBRBAFEE R (GEA) TFIR

g ¢
2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARETR ARETT
Cost of services provided BREARB R A 1,337,145 1,384,453
Cost of goods sold BEEEmKAR 7,895 56,341
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’  EERAMFAX (TEEEER
and chief executive's remuneration (note 9)) R TBAEE M (F5E9))
Salaries and other benefits T R E A E T 682,627 656,355
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFFT IR 37,502 36,727
720,129 693,582
Depreciation of items of property and equipment  #)3 R:XEHE B T E 14 27,507 25,495
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 16 2,682 10,287
Amortisation of other intangible assets H A 8 21 11,917 12,977
Impairment of financial assets, net TREERERE
Net impairment losses recognised on B H WA RERIE
trade receivables BEFE 24 19,320 19,044
Net impairment losses recognised on Hfth fE M R IB R R RO R B
other receivables BEFE 25 20,670 12,388
Impairment of goodwill EERE 17 14,987 -
Fair value loss/(gains) on investment properties X &ME AT EERE /(M) 15 49 (1,825)
Gross rental income He WAL 6 (9,942) (4.353)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 370 VAT E)) 6 727 (257)
Lease payments not included in the AT AHEABTED
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 36 6,267 7,035
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideration  B{SAM(B A FE % 4,452 82
Bank interest income RITHISUA 6 (6,510) (3939)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEMERRBEEE R
property and equipment BiE/ () 164 (751)
Auditor's remuneration ZE B & 4,162 4,362
Other interest income from financial assets at BATEFABZRNS R
fair value through profit or loss BEMEMFSMA 6 (931) (746)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBARZ (W), /Eig 35 (8,369) 9,821
(Reversal)/write-down of inventories to net & &R, / MEEr #E
realisable value FE 23 (875) 875
Government grants* BT 8 Ah * 6 (17,903) (24,214)
o Government grants include various subsidies received by the * BT BE B IEAR A B M B A F i 8 8K
Company's subsidiaries from relevant government bodies. There are IR # B - BE A R SRR R E
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies related to these grants. BRARM S BB 14 -

] 54 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

FINANCE COSTS 8. BIMAA

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MK AEAITAT -
2022 2021
2022 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARBTT
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE B 2,453 3,569
Interest expense imputed on consideration payable gt FE X (& M & &9 1 25 % - 1,494
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 430 1315
2,883 6,378

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

9. EERRSTTHAEHM

REBRLZAES EMANT EHRAUD) - F
7 BE DI 5 383(1)(@) ~ (b) ~ () B (f) 6 A K2
RE(WEEZFDER) ROIF 28 WEN
REREZRRHTHRABHHET

Group

REME
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
Fees we 8,332 9,487

Other emoluments: Hi & -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RHREYN R 1,968 1,368
Pension scheme contributions RIKE 2R 137 39
2,105 1,407
10,437 10,894

FREREEERAD A
2022F 7
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EEREETHAEFHM =)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(@) Independent non-executive directors (a) BYFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FRADMBYIERTTESHRSWO T :

the year were as follows:

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETT
Mr. Zhang Weilun* o A i 95 A - 129
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral PRIEE LA 154 149
Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin PR R & 154 149
Mr. Huang An Xin |LNITE 154 150
462 577
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FAREEMENBUIENTEEN
non-executive directors during the year (2021 Nil). Bl (2021 4F : £8) o
@ In November 2021, Mr. Zhang Weilun resigned as a non- * R2021F 11 A R#EmEEBTHAER
executive director of the Company. RNAIZEHITES °

—I 5 6 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESITTHRAEEHM @
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) HITES kHTESERES
and the chief executive THBAE
Salaries,  Equity-settled Pension
allowances and share option scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind expense  contributions  remuneration
e 2HR BHEEE Bike
e BENRE BRERX HE [ e
2022 2022% RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR AR¥TR AR¥TR
Executive directors: HTES:
Ms. Chen Zhuo Lt 477 - - - 477
Mr. Liang Bing RREAE 3,337 456 - 14 3,807
Mr. Long Weimin EAREE 3,337 456 - 14 3,807
7151 912 - 28 8,091
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Ms. Jin Kell PRERT 103 - - - 103
Mr.Wu Zhihua REZRE 103 - - - 103
206 - - - 206
Chief executive: BR{IHAS :
Mr. Liu Jian ey 513 - - - 513
Salaries, Equity-settled Pension
allowances and share option scheme Total
Fees  benefitsin kind expense contributions remuneration
e EHR BaiE BHRe
ik EnalE  BRERX AR Fles
2021 20214 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETT AREFT  ARETR
Executive directors; WTES:
Ms. Chen Zhuo BREa+ 1,742 456 - 13 2211
Mr. Liang Bing RREE 3235 456 - 13 3704
Mr.Long Weimin EARREE 3235 456 - 13 3,704
8212 1,368 = 39 9619
Non-executive directors: FRTES
Ms. Jin Keli THBRL 100 - - - 100
Mr. Wu Zhihua REETE 100 - - - 100
200 - - - 200
Chief executive: BR{IHAS :
Mr. Liu Jian Elf= i 498 - - - 498

TAeARIEEY 57
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2021: three directors), details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining one (2021: two) highest paid employee who is neither
a director nor a chief executive of the Company are as follows:

10. EERSHES

FARAEESHEERENAEES(2021F ¢
—ZEE)  EFBFEBER ECHIE - A
FEEB—A(021F - MB)BRIEARFE
EXEREITERABNZSHES N
BT

2022 2021

2022 % 2021 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET R ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e A REYHN R 1,502 2,172
Pension scheme contributions BIREFHEIHER 15 29
1,517 2,201

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

FEENFRRITRABBFHFMN FUATE
BER&REHESNFDT

Number of employees

EE AE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T AR¥ 1,000,000 7T 0 1
RMB1,000,001 to RMB5,000,000 AR 1,000,001 TTE
AR ¥ 5,000,000 7T 1 1
1 2

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

11. INCOME TAX 1. FifeH

A provision for PRC corporate income tax (the “CIT”) has been BE202F12A31BIEFE - REIMBEAM
provided at the applicable income tax rate of 25% for the year ended BR(TRERBH ) BEIMAEERH
31 December 2022 (2021: 25%) on the assessable profits of the A b B BT B 2 &) BY FE BR 5 R B 3% 25% (2021
Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China, except for those subsidiaries F :25%) BB TS ERHR - ZARIER
which enjoyed a lower tax rate as a benefit. EEBHHE R RIBRIN

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the BAMEEE AR ERERHEAERE DS

financial statements as no assessable profit was derived from Hong WARRB IR P GE B A TSR /E B4 o

Kong during both years.

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTRT ARETET

Current — Mainland China: BER — AR A
Charge for the year FAZH 46,500 71,553
Deferred tax (note 22) RIETIE (7 22) (2,936) (12,709)
Total tax charge for the year FANETITES H 43,564 58,844
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax KRZEREAERARRB AN ENTIE
using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective rate is as A ERERRETEOTIER S < iR
follows: T @
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBT T
Profit before tax RN 132,614 190,883
Tax at the applicable tax rate IRE B R ERFIE 33,154 47,721
Profits attributable to joint ventures and BRI E AT RGNS
associates (1,119) (1,005)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 5,027 6,268
Tax losses and temporary differences AEREERE R TS =%8
unrecognised 7,668 6,934
Tax losses and temporary differences utilised E) A LA HAR AT IE B8 &
from previous periods T (2,593) (2:453)
Withholding tax on distributable profits of the  ZN =& A B fff 8 A A
Group's PRC subsidiaries Al kA E A FE 1,427 1379
Tax charge for the year FRMIBZ H 43,564 58,844

LELELLAEAY 950



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

11.

12.

160

INCOME TAX (Continued)

The share of tax expense attributable to joint ventures and associates
amounting to RMB1,492,000 (2021: RMB1,341,000) is included in
“Profits and losses of joint ventures” and “Profits and losses of
associates” in profit or loss.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group has applied an
applicable rate of 5% in 2022 (2021: 5%). The Group will be liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

11. Fi8% (&)

BETERBERARBEDERERZABA
R #1,492,0007C (2021 £F = A R #1,341,000
JL) ' BRt ARz (A& CENFIEREE]
[ ARmFEREE] BT -

R B ZEAERE - A R A /Y
HNBIIE A (b MINRIE E E B IR A AL B UL
10%TEHI T - 3Z R € 65200841 A1 BB A
B WA 2007412 A 31 BIABEIZEF o
AR SR A B A i B OB 95 B A P AE R A R R
EHBERTH - B RAREMNTENEE
R o REER20225F 2 2 @ B R 5%
(2021 4F : 5%) - NEEE A EFL B 200845 1 A
1B E AR B F) B %5 5 B A K S /9 BT
B AR DKM B BMTEINF -

DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Proposed final dividend — HKD2.5 cents EE AR — ST AR
(2021: HKD3.0 cents) per ordinary share 2,578 (2021 4 : 3.07811L) 17,869 21,332

During 2022, a dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2021 was declared by the directors of the
Company and approved in the Company’s annual general meeting
on 31 May 2022. Dividends amounting to RMB17,869,000 were paid
on 7 July 2022 (2021: RMB21,332,000).

The directors of the Company has resolved to recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HKD2.5 cents) to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 9 June 2023. The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company's shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for the
year, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
854,550,000 shares (2021: 854,550,000 shares) in issue during the
year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on:
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13. BAREERERFAA

it ERER

BREABNNCENIEAFES AR LB
EXFAEABRGEANE ARERNDBETYE
A% 0 #E F 15 £0854,550,000 A% (2021 4F :
854,550,000 f% ) 5T & o

BREERNSBRNAEENE AR L EE
S A AREFATE - SHEFTR TR
BB SFAREFTESRELAN 2
BETEERHBE - URRBITEERAA
BEEEEERR AT ARRBREEER
1TH) B B IR I 8K -

AEERERENSRIIER THIEE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Earnings 2|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity HARERESSE ABGTE
holders of the parent 76,907 106,282
Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary FRBBEITE BRI T8
shares in issue during the year 854,550,000 854,550,000
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14, YJENFE

162

Leasehold Furniture Motor
Buildings  improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
BF HENERE BEAREERE RE Ch
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T ARET T ARBT T ARET T
31 December 2022 20225124310
Cost BA
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1A1H 78,395 28,655 64,885 49,059 220,994
Additions NE 595 9,124 4,916 5,447 20,082
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HEMBAR (FF35) (12,087) (268) (1,453) (701) (14,509)
Transfer to investment properties HEREREYE (2,356) - - - (2,356)
Disposals HE - (36) (1,403) (6,650) (8,089)
At31 December 2022 R202%128318 64,547 37,475 66,945 47,155 216,122
Accumulated depreciation 2iE
At 1 January 2022 R202F1A18 (7,275) (18,669) (31,316) (23,654) (80,914)
Depreciation provided for the year FRHRINE (3,941) (5,287) (9,402) (8,877) (27,507)
Disposal HeE - - 1,400 3,660 5,060
Transfer to investment properties BETIGEYE 833 - - - 833
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HERTE A R (FizE35) 3,057 53 1,073 680 4,863
At 31 December 2022 R202%128318 (7,326) (23,903) (38,245) (28,191) (97,665)
Impairment AE
At 1 January 2022 and R02F1R1BR
31 December 2022 202%12A4318 - - (456) - (456)
Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated 7220281818
depreciation Kk E:E 71,120 9,986 33,113 25,405 139,624
At31 December 2022, net of R202612A318
accumulated depreciation Mk 25t E 57,221 13,572 28,244 18,964 118,001
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

14. MERRE®)

Leasehold Furniture Motor
Buildings improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
BF HEMEEE REREELE HE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT
31 December 2021 2021124318
Cost BA
At 1 January 2021 R2021%1 A1H 72,381 26213 41,989 43,339 183,922
Additions NE 427 4,909 32,683 10,553 48572
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y —EHE AR 9921 - - - 9921
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKBAA (1,086) (1,964) 8511) (181) (11,742)
Transfer from investment properties BRAREE 1,906 - = - 1,906
Transfer to investment properties BRI EYE (5,266) - = - (5,266)
Transfer from long-term deposits EEAREER 1628 = = = 1628
Disposals HE (1,516) (503) (1,276) (4,652) (7,947)
At 31 December 2021 R2021E12A318 78,395 28,655 64,885 49,059 220,994
Accumulated depreciation irE
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1A18 6,179) (18,111) (30,560) (16,384) (71,234)
Depreciation provided for the year FERFEHETE (3,266) (1,057) (9335) (11,837) (25,495)
Transfer to investment properties BREEREYE 329 = - - 329
Disposal HeE 1,368 499 1,097 4534 7498
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR 473 = 7482 33 7,988
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12 8318 (7,275) (18669) (31,316) (23,654) (80914)
Impairment AE
At 1 January 2021 and R2021E1A1BR
31 December 2021 2021512 A318 - - (456) = (456)
Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated #2021 1818 »
depreciation Mk 25HE 66,202 8,102 10973 26955 112,232
At 31 December 2021, net of R20214 128318
accumulated depreciation Mk 25HE 71,120 9,986 33113 25,405 139,624
HRIREMERAT
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWYHE

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETTT

Carrying amount at 1 January K1 A1 BEEEE 178,012 188,951
Additions NE 1,227 56
Transfer from owner-occupied property BEEE B 1,523 5,643
Transfer to owner-occupied property RS g Ry - (1,906)
Disposal HeE - (5,830)
Disposal of a subsidiary & — B AR - (10,727)
Net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustments RNTERAE (BR) WwFRE (49) 1,825
Carrying amount at 31 December ®12 A31 HRARMEE 180,713 178,012

Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, the details of which are included in note 16.

The Group's investment properties are all situated in Mainland China.
The Directors have determined that all the investment properties are
commercial properties, based on the nature, characteristics and risks
of each property. The Group’s investment properties were revalued
on 31 December 2022 based on valuations performed by Jones Lang
LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent
firm of professionally qualified valuers, using the market approach, as
at 31 December 2022. Each year, the Group's property manager and
the directors decide, after approval from the audit committee, to
appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group'’s property manager and the
directors have discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results twice a year when the valuation is
performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

The Group's investment properties with a carrying value of
RMB99,567,000 (2021: RMB98,964,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group as at 31 December
2022 (note 30).
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REW xR
Fair value hierarchy NFEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy TEREAAEEREVEN AT EAEE
of the Group's investment properties: -

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2022 using

FERAUTEER 2022512831 BN AFENE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME  EATHE BEATTER
MR E WABE WABE
(%—18) (5=F8) (E=RE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR%¥TR AR%®Tn AR%Txn

Recurring fair value ATNIEE Mg ET
measurement for: NEEEE
Commercial properties EENE - - 180,713 180,713
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2021 using
FRNTEER 2021 F 12 A3 BN AT EH 2
Quoted
pricesin Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTG BEANEBR EATAUERR
R 1E PN 6 ) ABUR
(F—F) (B=FE) (=) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Recurring fair value ATNIBE M B
measurement for: RNEERFE -
Commercial properties mENE = = 178,012 178,012
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements RAFE  F-EREF_BR2ELER
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 FEAENER  TEATEAEEAF=
(2021: Nil). EBRIEE=BREL (2021 F : &) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy:

15. BEWHE (#)

N ERBRE)

DHEEATFEERE=ZFNAFEFTEY
BE :

2022 2021

2022 2021 5

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January »1 A1 BEREE 178,012 188,951
Additions INE 1,227 56
Transfer from owner-occupied property HEEE A 1,523 5,643
Transfer to owner-occupied property RS | A - (1,906)
Disposal HeE - (5,830)
Disposal of a subsidiary & —fHEH B AR - (10,727)

Net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustments

AFEHE(BE) WEHFE (49) 182>

Carrying amount at 31 December

W12 A31 HEREE

180,713 178,012

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
input to the valuation of investment properties:

AT BRI EYFEEMBEERDT REER
R ABURAOME -

Range
Significant #E
Valuation technique unobservable input 2022 2021
fRERI ERTUBERAHE 2022 F 2021 4F
Commercial properties Direct comparison method Market unit price (RMB/sg.m) 7-27 7-27
[EEZZES BEBUX 5 B ER
(NR¥ETT/F7K)

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value and
the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in a
significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the long term vacancy
rate and the discount rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment properties.
Generally, a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental
value is accompanied by a directionally similar change in the rent
growth per annum and the discount rate and an opposite change in
the long term vacancy rate.
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16. LEASE
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings used in
its operations. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms
between 2 and 5 years.

(@) Right-of-use assets

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

16. HHE
AREBELRBA

AEEREEEMANSEETHRETEH
a4 BTHENBEM RN F225F -

(a) fEREEE

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and REBFRHEEAEZ E@RENLRENE
the movements during the year are as follows: AR :
Buildings
L
RMB'000
ARETT
As at 1 January 2021 R2021%F1A18 32,687
Additions INE 4137
Depreciation charge e (10,287)
Disposals k== (12,287)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEHB AR (3,885)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R2021F 12 A31 B X 2022%F1 A1 H 10,365
Additions NE 2,428
Depreciation charge e (2682)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%F 12 A31H 10,111
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16. LEASE (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

168

Lease liabilities

16. HE (#®)

REBEREMEA @)
HES

(=

(b) =
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under HEABZEREEGIAGTERITEE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the HERA) R EREET :
movements during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
2022 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January ®1 A1 B ZEREE 12,821 38,226
New leases TEE 2,428 4,069
Accretion of interest recognised FRFTERAF BIZ I (FIES)
during the year (note 8) 430 1,315
Disposals HeE - (14,755)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHBAR - (4,651)
Payment = (3,326) (11,383)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F12H31H 12,353 12,821
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BIEAER 7> 10,528 9,944
Non-current portion FERNHEAES 7> 1,825 2,877

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follows:

()

hiER A ERREREN T

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ETR ARETTT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEAER S (H5Es) 430 1315
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {EFREAEITER 2,682 10,287
Expense relating to short-term leases and ER 0 BAAE & % #4718 B
other leases with remaining lease terms 20224 12 A 31 Bk
ended on or before 31 December 2022 Z A EmE E A E
(included in cost of sales) B Y GEAEERN) 3,507 4,996
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets EAKBEEEMRE A BRI
(included in administrative expenses) (GTATTEAX) 2,760 2,039
Total amount recognised in profit or loss B % iR SR IR 4R 9,379 18,637

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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16. LEASE (Continued) 16. HE ()
The Group as a lessor REBIEALHEA
The Group leases its properties under operating lease arrangements, AEERBELEEHELZHEEEYE %25
with leases negotiated for terms within five years. The terms of the HEKERNFHARFEUARN - LLEHAEH
leases generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits. ER—RINAEHP I NRES -
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future RIBEHK - BIBEEB T WA LA TN EH
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases FHR N AR fHE S E - REBERRK K
with its tenants falling due as follows: KIA S EIGRIBBERIA T ¢
2022 2021
2022 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBTFT
Within one year —F R 2,214 2,776
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EZFELF(BREEMF) 898 1,506
3,112 4,282
17. GOODWILL 17. &8
RMB'000
ARETTT
At 1 January 2021 202151 A1 H
Cost and net carrying amount A K BR T B 379,984
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS E A A 4,268
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—fEKTB A R (81,610)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 and ~ 522021812 A31 B KX 2022F 1 A1 HH
1 January 2022 A K BR T B 302,642
Impairment of goodwiill EESERED (14,987)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HEMTB AR (FIEE35) (62,373)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 202212 A 31 B AR EREFE 225,282
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

17. BHE (&)
GGERER: S

BRFHREMBESNBECHREE TR
SELABM(REEEEM]) AERER

EI'

Goodwill acquired through business acquisitions is allocated to the
following cash-generating units (“CGU") for impairment testing:

BREYEERESCEAEM(BREE
HEBEMA])

Ningbo property management service cash-generating unit
("CGUA"),

ERYEEERRERCELEM (TR
SELEMNC])

Guangdong property management service cash-generating
unit ("CGU C"),

HMNEEERGREEEEM (R
ﬁEE BV D)

Suzhou property management service cash-generating unit
("CGU D)

MM EEERGREELEM (TR
EELEMNE])

Hangzhou property management service cash-generating
unit (“CGU E")

ERMEEEREASELESM(R
SE4AEMF])

Huarui property management service cash-generating unit
("CGU F")
HihIReEs sl ([Hal)

Others cash-generating units (‘Others”)

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
2022 5 2021 5
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
CGUA HeEESBMA 101,083 101,083
CGUC HEEEBNC 24,929 83,034
CGUD BEEEBMND 20,171 20,171
CGUE HEEEBNE 14,987 14,987
CGUF HEEEBNF 37,637 37,637
Others E A 44,743 49,011
243,550 305,923
Impairment B (18,268) (3,281)
Total 4 225,282 302,642

ZERSEEBMNIRE S EREE T
SEEAEETE  AECARBEESRER
EBitERERFHACMBEEEELNRS
METEA - ZIRNESRETRRE A 15% TR
KR A FHAEERNIR S RE LM 2% (2021
R 2%) BIE REHEH o

The recoverable amount of those cash-generating units has been
determined based on a current market value calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 15% and the cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2021: F 1 15% Kk
15% and 2 %).
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the cash-
generating units for 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The
following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake an impairment
testing of goodwill.
Budgeted revenue The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the revenue from the segment
is the average revenue achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market
development.

Budgeted operating The basis used to determine the values
expenses assigned is the cost of inventories
consumed, staff costs, and other operating
expenses. The values assigned to the key
assumptions reflect past experience and
management’s commitment to maintain
its operating expenses at an acceptable
level.

The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the unit.

Discount rates

The values assigned to the key assumptions on budgeted revenue,
budgeted operating expenses and discount rates are consistent with
external information sources.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of the value in use of the cash-
generating units, management believes that no reasonably possible
change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the
carrying value, including goodwill, of the cash-generating units to
exceed the recoverable amount.
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17. BE &)

RERERH (@)

STE2022F 12 A31 H KX 2021F 12 A31 B A
REEABMNEREERFERRR - L THE
MBI T KIRE IR & M ETERI AT
ZRENRNSEBRER -

BEEWE — EESBEENKERTRE
MEESNRERBEEFHIFE
FTEBEN WA - IR EPT
TRH RO R B TR AT 5 3%
& o

RERY  ARETETBEENERNEER

HE RITFEATEERAN « BIRA
REMGERS - DETEE
SRNEERRBELHRLE
I8 fE AR H B S R
AR IKLE o

REIR = P PR B BR 3R R 5 B B A B 2R
R WRBRENBAESEN
BRSE R

NETHEEKZ KERXAEREREN
ETRRROBERIPERE -

HEREBHRE

EHERSELBM(EREEELFERE
e - EEERENFEEMRER LihREs
RRAEAFRENEDHSEHERHELENR
MR ELEMARAEBBE WO -
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18. PREPAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF

19.

PROPERTIES

18. B RV TA I FRIR

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had deposits of RMB14,092,000
(2021: RMB14,206,000) in relation to the acquisition of properties
situated in Mainland China paid to property developers. The Group
paid nil (2021: RMB200,000) for acquisition of properties in 2022.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

R2022F12A318 ' A"EBRYEZEER
WA N B AHME - T2 ZEBA
R #14,092,000 7t (2021 4F = AR 14,206,000
JL) ° 202 FAKEE X NEIT (2021 F © A
R % 200,0007T) AR UEEZ -

19. REELENRE

2022 2021

2022 % 2021 5

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET R ARET T

Share of net assets EIGEEFE 5,499 5,153

Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:

31 December 2022

AEBEEREMNFBNOT -

202212831 H

Percentage of
Place of UTEBHEAL
Paid-up registration Ownership Profit

Name capital  and business interest sharing  Principal activities
£ BREX EBRIREXLE FiEkRs BB TEER
ERRNMEERERAR RMB1,500,000  PRC/Mainland China 60 60 Provision of property

('Ningbo Dongyue’) management services
ERRENEERBRAT ARH1500000 B/ RERM RENFEERS

(IERRH)
REMERT R MESEEERAR RMB2,000,000  PRC/Mainland China 65 65 Provision of property

(‘Laibin Chantou’) management services
REMERTRHTELERERAT ARB2000000 B/ HERH, RENEER RS

(IREER])

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of
the Group's joint venture that is not individually material:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

19. REELENKRE &)

TERMUAAEENS B ENWIENEA
H RIS AR

2022 2021

2022 F 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBT T

Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year EBIRFERE S DEFHE 3,167 2,824

Share of the joint ventures ' total comprehensive  JE{5 & & 1D 342 2 HE IS

income 3,167 2,824
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEBREECERENRRAEE

investment in joint ventures 5,499 5153

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

20. REEZE RN RINIRE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREEFIT

Share of net assets JEhEEFE 7,592 6,283

FREREEERAD A
2022F 7R
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the Group's associates are as follows:

31 December 2022

20. REEERNTINRE (&)
AEBBADTNEENT -

2022F12 A31H

Place of Percentage of
Paid-up registration ownership interest  Principal
Name capital and business attribute to the Group  activities
AEBELREE
i EMER BEREBHE BREot FEEH
BHREBEER AR RMB7,000,000  PRC/Mainland China 40 Provision of sports venue
("Aoye Sports’) leasing services
EMREEEEERAR ([RXEE]) AR¥ 70000007t B/ HEAM RS E SRS
BMTRERRYEBRAF RMB1,000,000  PRC/Mainland China 49 Provision of business
('Wuzhou Chengtou’) management services
BNTRERTRNEERAF AR¥10000007T B/ HERM REFEER RS
([N ])
ENIXRRRENXEEERAR RMB500,000  PRC/Mainland China 49 Provision of business
("Suzhou Shengjian’) management services
FNIXERERMEERARAR AR®5000007 B/ HRERM REBEEERYE
([ERMEE])
MM RAEERBBR AT RMB1,000,000  PRC/Mainland China 30 Provision of wholesale
services
MR R ERBERA A ARE10000007T  HE/FEAM RERBRE

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of

TRFANEE B E R BRI SFERIEAR

the Group's associates that are not individually material: HBEBI TS B -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Share of the associates' profit for the year FE(EF B A B 7 1,309 1,194
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive FE(EEt 2 ARl A2 ERA
income 1,309 1,194
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REEREE A RIRENEIRAE
investments in associates 7,592 6,283
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271. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

21. Ht B EE

Acquired
property Software
management and
contracts trademark Total
FrERS M
EEEHN BHEREE st
31 December 2022 2022F12H31H RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AR%ET T ARETFT
At 1 January 2022: R2022F1 A1 8 :
Cost B 7N 121,724 10,406 132,130
Accumulated amortisation e 5 (67,472) (4,697) (72,169)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 54,252 5,709 59,961
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of m2022F 1 A1 BKA -
accumulated amortisation kR Rt 54,252 5,709 59,961
Addition NE - 2,875 2,875
Amortisation provided during the year X P&t & £ (10,457) (1,460) (11,917)
At 31 December 2022 72022 %12 A31 H 43,795 7,124 50,919
At 31 December 2022: 2022412 A31 8
Cost B 121,724 13,281 135,005
Accumulated amortisation ST (77,929) (6,157) (84,086)
Net carrying amount REVFE 43,795 7,124 50,919
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

21. EMEEEE &)

Acquired
property Software
management Customer and
contracts  relationships trademark Total
FTER{S ¥ 2
BESY BPEER BERER st
31 December 2021 202112 A31 H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT ARETET
At 1 January 2021 MR2021F1 18 -
Cost B X 121,724 7,000 9,817 138,541
Accumulated amortisation St (57,148) (2,037) (3,756) (62,941)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 64,576 4,963 6,061 75,600
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of 7202141 B 1 HEA ¢
accumulated amortisation R 2 51 8 64,576 4,963 6,061 75,600
Addition B = = 2,547 2,547
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE — B A A - - 242 242
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAF - 4,073) (1378) (5/451)
Amortisation provided F PR IR
during the year (10,324) (890) (1,763) (12,977)
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12A31H 54,252 = 5,709 59,961
At 31 December 2021: R2021F 12318
Cost B AR 121,724 - 10,406 132,130
Accumulated amortisation St (67,472) - (4,697) (72,169)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 54,252 - 5,709 59,961
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

22. BERBEE (AE)
FRECHBEAERARNEHNT :

Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE
2022
WNE
Allowance Losses Depreciation
for doubtful available allowance in
debts on trade Fairvalue  foroffsetting  Impairment excess of
Lease and other changeof  against future of related  Other payable
liabilities receivables FVTPL profits inventories  depreciation  and accruals Total
BARYGE
REMEY RAVE e BERE HftfEft
HEN FABER ARAE ER SER
HESR RESE  ATERD NEE HERE HERE i8R Eh
RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At1 January 2022 RnF1A18 3,205 49,314 168 2,550 219 1M 1,131 59,098
Credited/(charged) tothe statement  ERRERZA/ (41%)
of profitor loss during the year (117) 5344 297 34 (219) (296) 3,192 8,635
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWHBAR (3,448) - (1,675) - - - (5123)
At 31 December 2022 RNNE1A3A 3,088 51,210 465 1,309 - 1,615 4923 62,610
RREREEERL A

2022F 7R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ¥R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued) ~ 22.

EEHEEE (8E) @)

Deferred tax liabilities ELEMIBEEE
2022
202F
Fair value Withholding
change of tax on
investment Intangible undistributed Right-of-use
properties assets earnings assets Total
REMEH RMEDE
NYELD BREE BMRNH EREEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTRT
At 1 January 2022 R02F1A1R (3,066) (15,408) (3,891) (2,593) (24,958)
Charged/(credited) to the FAREERR
statement of profit or loss HibEEing/
and other transfers (GTA)
during the year (8,929) 4,592 (1,427) 65 (5,699)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAA
(note 35) (P& 35) - (397) - - (397)
At 31 December 2022 R02F12A318 (11,995) (11,213) (5,318) (2,528) (31,054)

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

22, EEBEEE (BE)#®)

Deferred tax assets EAEFIBEEE
2001
mE
Allowance Losses Depreciation
for doubtful available allowancein
debts on trade Fairvalue  foroffsetting [mpairment excess of
Lease and other changeof  against future of related  Other payable
liablities receivables FVTPL profits inventories depreciation and accruals Total
BoRNE
REMER BATE AR feseniii AftpEr
FEN  FARRH ARHE & HER
HERE REEE  ATEEY g3 FERE HERE EiTER &5t
RMB000 RMB(000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000
AREFT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETR ARETR  AR¥TRT  ARETR ARETR
At1 January 2021 RNNE1R1H 9557 45801 168 - - 1530 151 58567
Credited/{charged) to the statement £ RRMERRT A/ (315
of profitorloss during the year (5,189) 8811 - 2550 219 381 20 6992
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAA (1163) (5298) = = = = = (6461)
At 31 December 2021 R0 % 128318 3205 49314 168 2550 219 191 1731 59098
RREREEERL A

2022F 7R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) Continued) 22, MEERIBEE (BE) %)

Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE
2021
2021 F
Fair value Withholding
change of tax on
investment Intangible undistributed Right-of-use
properties assets earnings assets Total
REMEN RMEDE
NTES B EE BTN ERESE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTE ARBTE ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1R18 @110) (18,214) (2512 8172) (33014)

Charged/(credited) tothe  ERRERER
statement of profitorloss ~ EE#:EHk

and other transfer (Gt A)

during the year (583) 3071 (1,379 4,608 5717
Credited to other STAE 2 ARG

comprehensive income (186) - - - (186)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —FEMBAF - (265) = = (265)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR 1819 - - 971 2790
At 31 December 2021 R2021E 128318 (3,066) (15,408) (3,891) (2,593) (24,958)
The amount charged to the profit or loss in respect of the deferred 20224 - UERRBRENBEIRAE
tax liabilities was RMBS5,699,000 for year 2022 (2021: RMBS,717,000). MR AR®5690007 (20215 : AR

5,717,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continved) 22, IBEMIBEE (BE) &)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities MEIENmMS A TELEHREEEREE
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following BRI AR E Y o LAT BRLETE R R
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial B AREAE BRELEFIBEEGO DN

reporting purposes:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
12831H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARBTET

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE B IS AR R R AR
consolidated statement of financial position BRI EEFE 60,082 56,506
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE WA R R IEZ A
consolidated statement of financial position EIEFRIE B B F5E (28,526) (22,366)
31,556 34,140
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the RHEATIE B ERAELERIBE E

following item:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
12831 H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARKETE

Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 7z R £ I8 &5 18 & B B |4 = %8 145,388 125,088
In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses arising in RRPBUEEER - IR B AR TIE &
Mainland China could be carried forward for a period of five years to B AT #5985 B S DA SE R SR IERR TR AR ©

offset against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the RBLA LB B REERIBEE - ARTR
above item as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will 7 T8 B A Al ge A DA SE PR AR B R o

be available against which the above item can be utilised.



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

22.

23.

182

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, deferred tax liabilities of RMB5,318,000 (2021:
RMB3,891,000) have been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of the
Company, these subsidiaries would not distribute any earnings
derived up to 31 December 2015 and 75% of the earnings from 1
January 2016 onwards will not be distributed. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was RMB197,781,000 (2021: RMB192,073,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

22, EEREEE (B8) %)

R202F 128318 ERAEERTRRA
HFTRR M B A B A B & A (ZBATEIR) 5
ENENHEREEHREEEARKE
5,318,0007T (2021 4F : A R #3,891,0007T ) °
BEARBESE —MRHER  ZZHEBA
AT E DRI E2015F12 831 BN A
A M BE201651 A1 B #E itk 2 R # 75% 15
TMEDIR - ERERIELEREA ER T BE A
WBARIREMS MM ERE=HAEAAR
# 197,781,000 7T (2021 £ = AR 192,073,000
JT) °

AR A AEB RS EATSHER -

INVENTORIES 23. &
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Raw materials BE 5,588 5,507
Work in progress past Ui - 21,156
Finished goods FX & - 24473
5,588 51,136
Less: impairment provision B RE R - (875)
5,588 50,261
The movements in the impairment allowance are as follows: RERENZE T -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET R ARETTT
At beginning of year F 1] (875) -
Impairment loss, net BEEE TR 875 (875)
- (875)
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

24. E 5 BWRIE

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMETT ARBT T

Trade receivables g 5 e IE 603,590 530,069
Impairment B (107,430) (119,556)

496,160 410,513
Trade receivables mainly arise from property management service B RBGIEEEREMEE R RS REAM

and other businesses income. The credit period is generally one
month, extending up to three months for major customers. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management and credit limits attributed to
customers are reviewed once a year. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group's trade and bills receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the date of demand note, net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

EBBA - EEH—RR—@EA HXEP
REZLER=EH - BEEFHERREER
B o AREE T REERE R R WSRE TR
REHE - WV EREEBFIAREEER
o ARESHASREEEESNRT  ME
FOEERBAESFRS —IR - SR LM
MEAREE 5 RYGRIARERZBREARZ
TREFER - l&tI?ﬁEK%qJE’UEEH
% BHRKFAR/RE

RBEHR - RATBAE BHFENES
M SRR (RN B R R ) O RR e D AT 40

=

2

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F

12A831H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREETIT

Within 1 year 16 R 399,039 308,857
1 to 2 years 1224 52,712 74,198
Over 2 years BiE 2 F 44,409 27,458
496,160 410,513




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24, ESEWFIE &)

The movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are as
follows:

B REFABRBENESMT

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETT
At beginning of year == (119,556) (115,954)
Impairment loss, net REBEFE (19,320) (19,044)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—RIWEA A - (5,546)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHE AR 13,790 19,250
Amount written off as uncollectible s A~ AT Uk Ol B & 58 17,656 1,738
(107,430) (119,556)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are
not subject to enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

24, EFRWFIE (&)
TR HFIAE BB EEE B S

the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

WEmEERBRER

72022912 A 31 H

Less than 1to2 Over
1year years 2 year Total
DPR1F 122F BiB2F st
Expected credit loss rate HEHEEBEX 6% 14% 65% 18%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EEAE(ARETT) 424,915 67,442 111,233 603,590
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHEEER(ARETT) 25,399 9,730 72,301 107,430
As at 31 December 2021 FR2021F 12431 H
Less than 1to2 Over
1 year years 2 year Total
DR 15826 R 2 F st
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEX 7% 16% 75% 23%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) RELZE(ANRETT) 333,720 88,519 107,830 530,069
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER(ARETT) 24,863 14,321 80,372 119,556
FREREEMERA T

2022F 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

25. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. ARNRERHEMEWRRIE

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T R ARETT

Payment on behalf of customers to REZEFRIARSXEERNMR

utility suppliers 78,045 80,335
Deposits paid to utility suppliers MARSEEHER I NNES 38,942 56,041
Other receivables H fth fE U 1B 202,603 309,511
Prepayments TET IR 70,897 98,334
Other tax recoverable EoAth AT g B 7 1E 340 =
390,827 544,221
Less: Impairment allowance W RE R (61,474) (40,804)
Total #E 329,353 503417
Less: non-current portion W o FERNHEAES (14,746) (2,435)
Current portion BNEAER 7 314,607 500,982

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

Hib W FIRBEBIRBRENESIT

2022 2021

2022 2021 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T R ARETIT
At beginning of year REA] (40,804) (30,736)
Impairment loss, net (note 7) REREFEE (HIFE7) (20,670) (12,388)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR - 2,320
(61,474) (40,804)

Prepayments and other receivables mainly represents performance
bonds, bidding deposit for contracts, business-related prepayments
and balances with other independent third parties. Expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31 December
2022 ranged from 3% to 30%. (2021: 3% to 30%).
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26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

26. EAVEFAEENEHEE

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

2022 20214

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBT T

Bank financial product RITEMES 500 750
Financial assets at fair value through BAVEFABSNESRHEE

profit or loss (a) 7,176 13,326

At end of year RER 7,676 14,076

(@)

The Company has a put option to dispose of the acquired 100%
equity interest in Guangdong Huarui to the original non-controlling
equity holder. The fair value of the option will be adjusted based on
the future financial performance of Guangdong Huarui in 2020, 2021,
2022, 2023 and 2024. The option was classified as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2022.

The Company has a put option to dispose of the acquired 100%
equity interest in Guangdong Xunhua to the original non-controlling
equity holder. The fair value of the option will be adjusted based on
the future financial performance of Guangdong Xunhua in 2020, 2021,
2022 and 2023. The option was classified as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

ARRERREEIRE - AR R IEIE A R
A A WS PR 89 E 3R 2E IR 100% A9 AR
#e o Bl #E R B 1§ FR20204F ~ 2021 4F »
20226 ~ 2023 F R 2024 F IR ER E I Ay
RIREITEFRIA T A o HiRER 2022 4F 12
A3 B2 EARATFEFABENEHE
E:_o

AR EHER R B - LAM R IEE AR S
B A A E BT U 89 E 3 5 100% A9 %
¥ o Hi#E B #& R 20204 -~ 2021 F -
2022 F F 2023 4 1% R FE 3R 0L 5 A9 R 2R B 7%
FB T LATE o IR 2022 FF & 2021 5F 12
A3 B2 EARATFEFABRENEHE
EEO

FREREEERAD A
2022F 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. BEREEEEY

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

2022 5 2021 4

12A31H 12H31H8

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T ARETIT

Cash and bank balances e MIRITHR 446,052 436,464
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 446,052 436,464

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB444,564,000 (2021:
RMB427,657,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

The Group collects deposits from certain community residents to
establish daily repair and maintenance funds in accordance with the
relevant rules and regulations in the PRC.

All of the deposits collected are required to be kept in designated
bank accounts under the name of the relevant subsidiaries of the
Group though the deposits collected and the related interest income
belong to the community residents. Pursuant to the property
management agreements between the Group and the community
residents, the withdrawal and use of the funds are subject to
approval by the community residents. As the monies maintained for
daily repair and maintenance funds are not controlled by the Group,
they are not recorded as bank balances by the Group. As at 31
December 2022, RMB24,654,000 (2021: RMB21,902,000) was kept in
the daily repair and maintenance funds on behalf of the community
residents.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The cash and bank balances and pledged bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.
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RIMERR - ZEEUARBAFENRE R
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FNANA EREXEEERBEARE
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28.

29.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

28. B 5 EBARE

REEER  REEAMAEOE SRR
BB AT ;

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
2022 5 2021 4F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETET

Within 60 days 60 HIA 80,712 84,462
Over 60 days and within 180 days 60 B K& 180 HAA 7,738 4137
Over 180 days and within 365 days Him180 H X365 HIA 2,899 2,236
Over one year BB —F 9,433 5,557

100,782 96,392

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and normally settled on
terms of 30 to 90 days.

The fair values of trade payables approximate to their carrying
amounts due to their relatively short term maturity.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BEIRNFER/TET R R —RMN30E0H

MBS

MRS RBSEEE REZRNFKEND
FEEHREERS

29, HhENRIEREFTEHA

31 December 31 December

o

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
12A31H 12H31H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HiaE AR¥T R ARETIT
Contract liabilities BREE a 135,689 261,505
Receipts on behalf of community MAREEM
residents for utilities FEE(E PRI 245,133 266,526
Received in advance TEUFRIE 17,218 6,434
Accruals EEtEA 151,506 151,944
Other payables At e RIE 10,443 37,006
Deposits received BlliEe 63,059 68,296
Amounts due to non-controlling equity FESTHTB A B eI I i 2
holders of subsidiaries A AR RIE 7,576 61,848
Due to the ultimate holding company FET R ARIE AR A R RO FRIE 39 6,000 -
Other tax payables H At 1R 34,865 36,492
671,489 890,051
Non-current portion (note 31) FEBNEAZD > (BfaE31) - (57,953)
671,489 832,098

PRASABINT {89



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s amounts due to non-
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries included outstanding
consideration payables in respect of the Group's acquisition of the
equity interests in the subsidiaries from those non-controlling equity
holders which are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of

repayment.

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable

on demand.

(a) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December

29.

HtEAREREFTER @
R2022%F12A318 ' NEBEAH B AR
RSB A ANREEEANERRZE
eI S 1 A UK R B B A R AR AR T FE £~
MAEERE  HAEEHR £ kITER
TEEIRER -

HA RN SURSEEN - 28 RIRERER -

@  M2022%12 A31H K% 2021412 A31 BWA

2021 are as follows: HABEFBET
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBT T

Advances received from customers BEMREFZH

Sale of goods and installation services HESmELTERGE 9,468 105,333
Property management services (note 6) Y E R R (FaEe) 126,221 156,172
Total contract liabilities AXBEERRE 135,689 261,505

Contract liabilities include advances received to deliver property

management services and sales of goods..
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. sTESHRITREMMER

BORROWINGS
2022 2001
WRE W01 E
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB'000 (%) Maturity RMB'000
ERAIZ (%) A ARETR  EEFE® IR ARET
Current il
Lease liabilites (note 16(b) REAE(HE60) 4,75-9.06 2023 10,528 475906 200 9944
Bank loans — secured RTEN—EHA 3.8-5.85 2023 39,000 448 2022 10,000
Bank loans — unsecured RITEN — EHA 3,75-6.00 2023 9,990 375-600 2022 29950
Current portion of long term RERTEFOTESH - 375-600 200 1147
bankloans — secured —BEH
59,518 51,041
Non-current FEH
Lease liabilties (note 16 (b) REARE (ML) 1,825 475906 2023-2025 2877
Bankloans — secured ROER—BEA - 388-450 2023-2029 14859
1,825 17736
61,343 68777
RRERERERAT

2022F 7R
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

30. ;T EHBTREMER &)

BORROWINGS (Continued)
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARKETT
Analysed into: PITR
Bank loans repayable: AR AT BARREE A IRITE R ¢
Within one year or on demand —FRIZER 48,990 41,097
Beyond two years, inclusive MELAE(BEMF) - 14,859
48,990 55,956
Other borrowings repayable: AR THIREZNHEAMER
Within one year or on demand —FAYIZEK 10,528 9,944
Beyond two years, inclusive M LA E(BIEME) 1,825 2,877
12,353 12,821
61,343 68,777
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group's bank loans were secured by the pledges of the Group's
assets with carrying values at 31 December 2022 and 31 December

2021 as follows:

OTHER 30.

AREBMIRTERAKA
12 A31 B & 202112 A 31
BEERER

31 December

STERITREMER &)

AN EE B 2022 F
HTAEREEN

31 December

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
12A31H 12H31H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B =E AR®T ARBTT
Investment properties wEMZE 15 99,567 98,964
Property and equipment b EYS - 5,587
99,567 104,551
In addition, a director of a subsidiary guaranteed certain of the o - —ERB AR ESRImEHARNAE

Group's bank loans of up to Nil (2021: RMB4,606,000) in aggregate as
at the end of the reporting period at nil consideration.

As at 31 December 2022, all the Group's borrowings were

denominated in RMB.

The bank borrowing balances of the Group bore interest at fixed

rates.

The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings at fixed rates approximate to their fair values.

31. OTHER LONG-TERM PAYABLES

F: ARB4,6060007T) ©

R2022%F 128318 » A&
ARHEEETHE -

ATFEIAE -
31. b RIBEAKE

31 December

REERAEEE TRITERS EAEZ (2021

[ P A 18 R DA

REBMRITERSRIREEN KL -

AT RERTT R H A T ) 2R 5 A AR (E S

31 December

2022 2021

2022 £ 2021 4

12A831H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFIT

Contract liabilities BHEE - 57,953

FREXKEMERAF
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

194

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. A
Shares ieavi)
Nominal
Number of value of
ordinary HKDO0.01
shares each
SREE
ZERHE 0.017& T
HKD'000
T
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 2022 1 A1 B K2022% 128318 8,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRHBRE :
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 202241 A1 B k2022412 A31 8 854,550,000 8,545
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETIT
Issued and fully paid: EERTRHRE
Ordinary shares SRl
At 1 January and 31 December BR1A1TBR12A31H 7,082 7,082
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33. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

(a)

(b)

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the PRC
subsidiaries’ articles of association, each subsidiary registered
in the PRC as a domestic company is required to appropriate
10% of its annual statutory net profit as determined under
generally accepted accounting principles of The People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC GAAP") after offsetting any prior
years' losses to the statutory surplus reserve. When the balance
of this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any
further appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve can be
utilised to offset prior years' losses or to increase capital.
However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must be
maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after these
usages.

Other reserve

The amount represented the contribution from Mr. Liu Jian,
the controlling shareholder and director of the Company,
through transferring his 40% equity interest in Guangdong
Zhong Ao, a subsidiary of the Company, to Mr. Long Weimin
and Mr. Liang Bing, both being directors of the Company and
employees of Guangdong Zhong Ao in 2011.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

33. f#&
AEERAEERBEEENRENSER

A
HE

(a)

(b)

BN BEHRENGEEREHRZT -

EERE

brd: el =N b e DES NI o]
BER SREDPRELZAENEAR
R B A RIZERS E A FFE (a0
REAREMBEARSRE([HE
S ER ) FEE) (EREREEE
BE)MI0%EBRELTEREGREE It
HEREGETEREANS0%E - B
BEBABIELE - ATREABIES
EEFEESBERER - R ' JAE
BABHENERNZERE R VAL
FERMEE AR 25% °

Htf#

ZEBBEEANRIERBERREEZE
EER01NFBEBARNRANEZTERE
RHBEBRAREERRE L EHE
BERARTHE R T E R E40%
ARIEFTIEH & ©

FREREEERA A
202255,
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

33. RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

196

Special reserve

The special reserve mainly represent (i) capital contribution
amounting to RMB258,000 by Mr. Liu Jian and non-controlling
equity holders for the transfer of 75% and 25% equity interests
in EMNEBH(E BRI AR AR (‘Guangzhou Maiyue’) to
the Group in April 2015 through structured contracts at nil
considerations; (ii) further capital contribution to Guangzhou
Maiyue made by Mr. Liu Jian amounting to RMB750,000 in
2015; (iii) the obligation in relation to the acquisition of the
remaining 30% equity interests in Zhejiang Yongcheng
recognised in the amount of RMB80,630,000, which was
decreased by RMB41,895,000 due to further acquisition of the
7.5%, 7.5%, 7.5% and 7.5% equity interests in Zhejiang
Yongcheng at 26 July 2017, 22 June 2018 ,3 July 2019 and 7
July 2020, respectively; (iv) additional interests in B/ A0 B2 7
B2 AR AR ('Guangzhou Shangye’) acquired by the
Group from a non-controlling equityholder in 2019, with the
difference between the consideration paid and the additional
share of net assets in Guangzhou Shangye as acquired by the
Group amounting to RMB2,111,000 being transferred to the
special reserve; (v) additional interests in FER EnIRIE T2
AR A 7] (‘Guangdong Huarui’) and BHRAFETREMA
[R 2 7] ("Guangdong Xunhua’) acquired by the Group from
a non-controlling equityholder in 2022, with the difference
between the consideration paid and the additional share of
net assets in Guangdong Huarui and Guangdong Xunhua as
acquired by the Group amounting to RMB41,703,000
decreased the reserve.

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve arises from change in use from
an owner-occupied property to an investment property.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

33. #fE )

(c)

(d)

155l

R B £ Z 38 () 20155F 4 A B2 5E
ERERESRBEASBEBES
HE(ESEE AR 2580007T @ AR
SEEZENESEERBERAA
([EMEH ) 75% K 25% F&AE © (i)2015
FREELEREMNEBRRIEARE
750,000 7T + (iii) e 52 B8 5 WL AT VT Sk B
#R T 30% A% 8 HY & £ A R 5 80,630,000
T HA EM2017%7H268 - 2018
Fe6H2H 20197 HA38 k20214
7R 78 % Bl B W AT ok B 7.5%
7.5% * 7.5% % 7.5% P& #E i m A A R ¥
41,895,0007T : (iv) A 20194F + ANEE A
—ZIEEREREE AR EMN P =
PMEBXEARAG(EMEE) WE
IVERE o BB B R & B BT Y
FEINEHENBENEEFELHD
Z7FB AR 2111000 7T B & # = 5 7
fEfE RWR202F  NREBR—F
EZERERSTAE ARERRERIRE
TERBRAAR(ERER]) RKERA
ETRBEMAR AR (ERAE DN
EIMER c ENREERNEEKE
RENEHERERRERAENE
EFEZERZ5 AR 41,703,000 7T
HIR T R o

BEEBLf#HE
BEEMHREERERNENREREE
REEMEMELE -



34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

interests are set out below:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

B I8 2 7

BT -

4. BFEEAFERESNHIES

AEEFEREAERESOMEBARFE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Percentage of equity interest held by TR R TR E B D L
non-controlling interests:
Suzhou House Construction ERINEE 34% 34%
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBTT
Profit for the year allocated to o3 e 28 FERE A 2 O S A A
non-controlling interests:
Huihuang Property IEIEE % - 1,723
Huihuang Real Estate PRIE P HE - 4,667
Suzhou House Construction ERINER 4,328 8,252
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RIS HH IR = ) 25T 454
interests at the reporting date
Suzhou House Construction EMNEE 40,702 36,374

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests.

BRI ER -

REREIXEE

TRABAEEAERIERAHE QA

BRAT
2022F 7R
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

3. BEEAFIEREZNHB2ES
VI PNGITE ),

(Continued)
The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: P 55 & BB R fE A RIE ¥ 84 -
Suzhou House
Construction
BMNER
RMB’000
2022 2022 F ARBTT
Revenue U %5 163,927
Total expenses G (151,198)
Profit for the year FNF)HE 12,729
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNEEILALLEE 12,729
Current assets mENE E 208,221
Non-current assets BB E 5,486
Current liabilities MENEE (93,996)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE -
Net cash flows from operating activities KL EHMEREREFHA 12,762
Net cash flows used in investing activities BEEHMABESREF5E (4,958)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEEBAMARSREFHE (356)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents e RIReSEYEINFEE 7,448

Suzhou House
Construction

wINEE

RMB'000

2021 2021 AREFT
Revenue Ue %5 160,039
Total expenses G (135,767)
Profit for the year FNFHE 24,272
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNEREIA LT 24,272
Current assets mMENEE 181,287
Non-current assets EMBNE E 2,730
Current liabilities mENEE (82,530)
Non-current liabilities ERBBE -
Net cash flows from operating activities KBRS REeREFE 18,719
Net cash flows used in investing activities BREGESMAESMEFE (3,169)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BB EEBMARSREFEE (6,548)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents e RIFE S EYILINFE 9,002
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed of
certain subsidiaries which mainly include the 60% equity interest in
EREEFZRELZREER LA (“Jindun Zhengan’) for an
consideration of RMB15,000,000 and the 100% equity of BEE /M5 ZE
AR A R A7) (‘Guangzhou Nuodeng’) at a consideration and
in exchange for a 49% equity interest of a subsidiary of the Group.

The carrying values of the assets and liabilities of those subsidiaries

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

35. HEMB L

REE202F12831BILFE - AEBEH
EETHBAR  TEBRUREBARK
15000000 T HEER B ELRERBE A
RARI([EBER])B60%IRE - RARE
HEEMNEEZEBREERAE ([ EME
2 ) #91000% B HE - ABRER A S E — 0 B
N ) 49% RS AE o

RREEEHERREFALEZSTHER

disposed of during the year on their respective dates of disposals ANBEENBENERmERT :
were as follows:
2022
2022 F
RMB’ 000
ARETT

Net assets disposed of: HEBEFE :
Property and equipment E IS E L] 9,646
Goodwill (kS 62,373
Deferred tax assets RIETIB A B 5,122
Cash and bank balances B MiBIT4E 13,764
Trade receivables 2 5 IR 25,154
Prepayments and other receivables TR RRIE f B At R IE 155,325
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BEATEF ARG SREE 4,088
Inventories FE 66,919
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ST RRITREAMBERK (20,812)
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIBAE (397)
Trade and bills payables B I RENFBERENER (58,584)
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R E A FE S 5018 (130,732)
Tax payable FEI TR (6,342)
Contract liabilities EHBE (111,761)
Non-controlling interests R (7,132)

6,631
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT/ KRE 8,369
15,000
Satisfied by: ATEN AT
Cash [ 15,000
15,000

FREREEERAD A
2022F 7
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

35. HEKWE AT (&)
BRLEHBARZBSRESSEBYNR

of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: NEEHDITIT :
2022
2022
RMB’ 000
AR® TR
Cash consideration BEeRE 15,000
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHERE RIRITER (13,764)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERLENBRARNRE R
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ReEBYRNFHE 1,236

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

200

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the carrying amounts of trade receivables and
prepayments and other receivables were offset as settlement
for acquisition of properties which did not result in any cash
flow (2021: RMB1,628,000).

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,428,000 (2021:
4,137,000) and RMB2,428,000 (2021: 4,069,000), respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for plant and equipment.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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(a)

36. FERERERME

FEFRERS

FR BB ERGIENRIERRIE X
H b EUGRIAR R EEEA W B X
MEEmMEE  YEEETMEREESR
= (2021 F : AR¥1,6280007T) ©

FA-AEERKERZBEHEZHE
ADREMERSFERAREEREESR
BARY 24280007 (2021 F : AR
4,137,000 78) &2 A R ¥& 2,428,000 7T (2021
& AR#4,069,0007T) ©
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

36. AEBEERERMT &)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RMEETBELEEENEH
activities
Interest-
bearing
Lease bank Other
liabilities borrowings payable
HEEE FERTER HttESRE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT AR%ET R AR®TR
At 1 January 2022 ®2022F1 818 12,821 55,956 -
Changes from financing cash flows EI&EIR &R = FTES & F) (2,896) 13,846 -
New leases FEE 2,428 - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHT B A A - (20,812) -
Interest expense R EF 430 2,453 -
Interest paid classified as BERMEDER
operating cash flows KEIH ST (430) (2,453) -
At31 December 2022 72022412 431 B 12,353 48,990 -
Interest-
bearing
Lease bank Other
liabilities borrowings payable
MEAE FTERTER HMERMNZIE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBTT
At 1 January 2021 7K2021F1H18 38,226 79,271 67,866
Changes from financing cash flows Rt EIR & REMELEEH) (10,068) (20,168) -
New leases HEE 4,069 = -
Acquisition of a subsidiary UgBE — KT B A A - 13,253 -
Disposal HE (14,755) - -
Disposal of subsidiaries L EH B A (4,651) (16,400) (69,360)
Interest expense F B 1315 3,569 1,494
Interest paid classified as BRNMEDER
operating cash flows LIRS (1,315) (3,569) -
At 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H 12,821 55,956 =

FREREEERAD A
2022F 7
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. 2B 4R XM (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (¢ HEBRESARHHAZE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of HFARESRERANEER S RHE 2
cash flows is as follows: BT -
2022 2021
2022 2021 £
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREFIT
Within operating activities KEEEN 6,267 7,035
Within financing activities BEEENA 2,896 10,068
9,163 17,103
37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. FARAE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as of 31 December BE202F12H318  AEBWHESE KN
2022 (2021: Nil). RBME (2021 F : £E) o
38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EAAYE
the Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the RIBEER - REEHATEAREE :

reporting period:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARBTE

Contracted, but not provided for: BEETA) - BRI -
Acquisition of property and equipment WHEMZE K RERBEMERE
and leasehold improvements 851 906

2 O 2 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

(a)

(b)

Related party transaction

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Group had the following related parties’ transactions during
the year:

The ultimate holding company has made advance of
RMB6,000,000 to the Group which is unsecured, interest free
and has no fixed term of repayment.

Compensation to key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during the
year was as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

39. EEEA RS KRR

() BEHRAIRS

BHBRERAREEN  NEER
FRBUATHEBAIRS

REEBR AR ERAAEERRARE
6,000,0007C ' B AEEH 2B K&
4 [E S o

(b) HFETEEEAESNINE
FAEEEEABNFHNAOT

2022 2021

2022 F 2021

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Short-term employee benefits R EE A 13,345 13,019
Post-employment benefits BB 2R A 223 132
13,568 13,151

The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by reference to the performance of individuals
and market trend.

TREEABNHFMIIREARRR
MEBBEE -
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. €@ T B (R¥EHAl)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting year are as follows:

31 December 2022

Financial assets

EEFSMT ARNREHROETENT -

202212 H31H

TRIEE
Financial
Financial assets
assetsat  atfairvalue
amortised through
cost  profit or loss Total

B A A BAFE
FHEH FTABZEEN

cREE cREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TR AR®Tx
Trade receivables (note 24) B 5 el EoE (MaE24) 496,160 - 496,160
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABER
profit or loss (note 26) S RVEE (FTsE26) - 7,676 7,676
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) Re kB EEY(HE27) 446,052 - 446,052
Financial assets included in prepayments 5+ AFEA 3018 f2 H i g Uiz
and other receivables (note 25) FIER & E (M1aE25) 298,580 - 298,580
1,240,792 7,676 1,248,468
Financial liabilities SHaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
R R A
FTEH
TRIBE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTR
Financial liabilities included in other ST A AR FIE R EET B A A
payables and accruals (note 29) e & (HIE29) 500,935 500,935
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEERTT R E M AR (I5E30)
borrowings (note 30) 61,343 61,343
Trade payables (note 28) Z S A (MfaE28) 100,782 100,782
663,059 663,059
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31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41, T A (RER) @
(Continued)
31 December 2021 202112 A31H
Financial assets cREE
Financial
Financial assets
assets at at fair value
amortised through
cost profit or loss Total

BB BAYE
SER FTARZED

DREEE EREE WBET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREFTT ARETT
Trade receivables (note 24) B 5 U A (FiaE24) 410,513 - 410,513
Financial assets at fair value through BN EFAERS
profit or loss (note 26) SREE (M5 26) - 14,076 14,076
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) R KRB EFEY (HFE27) 436,464 - 436,464
Financial assets included in prepayments &+ A FB 1 7038 Kz £ 4t fE Uk
and other receivables (note 25) RIERN S RE = (s 25) 402,648 - 402,648
Long-term deposits RHEIFER 2/435 = 2435
1,252,060 14,076 1,266,136
Financial liabilities TREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
TR SRR AR
STEH
TRIBE st
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREFTT
Financial liabilities included in other AR KIE R ERTE R
payables and accruals (note 29) eEBE (PF29) 592,054 592,054
Interest-bearing bank and other AT EERTT R EMER (F5E30)
borrowings (note 30) 68,777 68,777
Other long-term payables H th = BRFE S 5B 57,953 57,953
Trade payables (note 28) B 5 R~ 5B (FitEE 28) 96,392 96,392

815,176 815,176
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41. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group'’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

4. SRTENAFERAFERER

BREmEEAFESEEENSRITAN
AEESHTANKREERATFENT

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AFE
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 F 20214 2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AR¥ETR ARETR
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at fair value AT EFABRZ
through profit or loss SHEE 7,676 14,076 7,676 14,076
Financial liabilities SREE
Interest-bearing bank and AT ERITREMER
other borrowings 44,950 45,187 44,950 45,187

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

2 06 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee.
At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
was based on the expected return rate.

The fair values of lease liabilities have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The Group's own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and other long-term payables as at 31 December
2022 was assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
have been calculated using Monte Carlo simulation with rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities.

Management has assessed that the fair values of the interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings with floating rates, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the fact that these borrowings are made
between the Group and independent third-party financial
institutions based on prevailing market interest rates.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

1. ERMTANAFERAFEER

(&)
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41. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHYOF 41. ¢ T AN AT ERAFEREBR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Except for the fixed rate portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, and other long-term payables, management has also
assessed that the fair values of the Group’s other financial
instruments approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

(&)

BRat BARTT R EL M A8 R A0 Bl E M R B8 0 A B
Hip RHIENRIES - BERETFCE @ K
SEEMERTANRFEARKEEM
% FTEARZETANIEABEBER
B o

AR AR TEMENE AT ERE A
B EE R N 20224 K 202112 A31 8
2L BEE DT

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
fHERE BEXTUHEGAZE &E AFEHBAENHRE
Financial assets at Monte Carlo Discount rate 2022: 14%-15% 1% increase/decrease in discount rate would
fair value through simulation (2021: 149%-15%) result in a decrease/increase in fair value
profit or loss method by RMB76,760 (2021: RMB140,760)/
RMB76,760 (2021: RMB140,760)
BATESABREN RERE BT R 20226 © 14%-15% AR RN, 1% BB AFE
TREE IRBEEL (20214 : 14%-15%) WD/ EMARE 76760 7T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2022

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

EMIANAFERAFEER
(#)

NEEER
TXERAAEEESHTANATEAEE
-

BATVETENEE

72022612 A31H

Fair value measurement using

ERNTBENAFETE

Quoted
pricesin
active
markets
(Level 1)

SE BT 5
HRE
(5—18)
RMB’000
ARBT R

Significant Significant

observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EATERE EXTARE
WABE BWABE
(B=f8) €=-) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TRT AR%Tn

Financial assets at fair value through BN ER ABEN
profit or loss CREE -

- 7,676 7,676

As at 31 December 2021

202112 31 H

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENAFETE

Quoted
prices in
active
markets
(Level 1)
AR5
B RME
(5—FE)
RMB'000
ARETFT

Significant Significant
observable  unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EAAERE BATAEHR
BWABUR W ABUR
(B=E) (B=F) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTE AR®ETT ARETR

Financial assets at fair value through AT EFABRN
profit or loss TRERE =

= 14,076 14,076

AR nen 209
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41. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHYOF 41. ¢ T AN AT ERAFEREBR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (%)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEBHK B
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed BIREAFENEE
As at 31 December 2022 2022512 A31H

Fair value measurement using

ERAUTHENAFETE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME EATEHE BEATTEER
HERE WARE WAE
(%-18) (B=8) (B=E) @et
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBTRT AR®ETR AR¥ETR AR%Tx

Interest-bearing bank and other AT RRITREMER
borrowings - - 44,950 44,950
- - 44,950 44,950
As at 31 December 2021 R2021F 12831 8
Fair value measurement using
ERATHENAFEE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERMS  EATBE EATAUER
HHR(E BAZE BAHE
(5—8) (F=E) (B=FE) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTRT AREKETR
Interest-bearing bank and other AT RRITREMER
borrowings - - 45,187 45,187

= = 45,187 45,187
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's financial instruments include financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents, other payables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and other long-term
payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as financial assets included in
prepayment and other receivables, trade and bills receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings set out in note 30.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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42, TREREREBERBER

AEENSRTABRERAFEFARBEN
TREE ReRRSFEY  HMEMNK
A GEERITRE MR M E & B
HeFeRTANEIZENRSAKER
LEEEES  AKEHBEZREMERE
ERAE  WEEKEEENT ABNIA
NEMEBURIENEREE - BHRKHKIA
MEKEIE KB RN FOR -

AEEEMIAEENTERRANKME
B SNERRR - EERRMREBE SRR o
EXEe R ERURSEREZARNK
R ARABGRBENOT -

BT
7N 5= (B B B T 35 6 3R B2 B R P = B
FE30FTE AR E R IRITIEREFE ©

TRMPEREABTREDTHAE LS
SRETEOWRT - AEERBHFIE(A
T BNFIE (EAREOR ) VGRS -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax
EE RR AU A
EH (TR & 08d)
RMB'000
ARETIT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F 12831 HLLFE - -
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F 12 A3 ALEFE 50 (225)
(50) 225
FRIAREEHRDA

211

2022 %



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R Y ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group's businesses are located in Mainland China and nearly all
transactions are conducted in RMB. All of the Group's assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for those owned by the
Company and certain subsidiaries which are denominated in United
States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the USD and
HKD exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of

42, SREBREERERBE#)

NS B

AEENERBURNTEARM - BEFHRAER
IUAREHET - ARBABEERABN
ARBEHE - EBARRRE THERRM
A EARTTRABTTHERS) ©

TRIANBERAREZTETERNSIE
AlREE B E R EEHRFTENIEN
T AKEEHAMNB(REREERAE
MAFEZESTSIE) RRE -

monetary assets and liabilities).

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
USD/HKD in profit
rate before tax
ERTHRBTR KRB AT
fE = F3E
EFH () i/ CED)
% RMB'000
ARETTT
2022 2022 F
If the USD weakens against the RMB BRI H ARG 10% 2
If the USD strengthens against the RMB AETTHARKEER (10%) (2)
If the HKD weakens against the RMB BB AREES; 10% 146
If the HKD strengthens against the RMB EBTTH AR B (10%) (146)
2021 20214
If the USD weakens against the RMB EEILH AR 10% 2
If the USD strengthens against the RMB AETTHAREER (10%) @)
If the HKD weakens against the RMB ABTHAREES 10% 878
If the HKD strengthens against the RMB BB H ARE R (10%) (878)

Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group. The credit risk of the Group'’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, long-term deposits, trade and
bills receivables and other receivables, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

2 1 2 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SEER

AEBYBEAEESETAR - AREHEM
TREE(BRESMNESFEY REF
K BHRWGRIA R U RIE K H YR
B)WEERRIVEASFTENOMES - H
BRERASAEEERZETANKEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. 2 RIEMEEBEREEE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B KR B & B R P ER &l o
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TREHIR 2022912 A31 H K% 2021%F12 A
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is 3B ERAEBEEEBRNEEEENTA
mainly based on past due information unless other information is BRRAEERR  hEZABHAER A
available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging KB (HEREEZKANE AR EEE
classification as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The EERRIN)  RERBEREDDE - T2
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets JSHEACHEENAEAENMEERA
and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts. LFTHEERAEE R
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 AFEH
FEEE ZHEREREEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB P2 LS [R5 @zt
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR ARBTR AR¥TR
Trade receivables* B EYIE - - - 603,590 603,590
Financial assets included in FABAFER
prepayments and other H A U IB A
receivables SREAE
— Normal** — L@ 345,308 - - - 345,308
— Doubtful** — REE* - - - - -
Cash and bank balances Re RRITE R 446,052 - - - 446,052
Long-term deposits RiEe 14,746 - - - 14,746
806,106 - - 603,590 1,409,696
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. ¢RiEfeEEBEREE &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BREMRN FEREERE D (2)
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 7B H
EEEBR 2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PRER 1 PRER2 PEER3 ill#z st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT
Trade receivables* B 5 e EoE = - - 530,069 530,069
Financial assets included in FABAFER
prepayments and other H i Uk A
receivables TRHEE
— Normal** = 443452 - - - 443452
— Doubtful** — R * - - - - -
Cash and bank balances Re RFITHR 436,464 - - = 436,464
Long-term deposits 3t 2435 - - - 2435
882,351 - - 530,069 1412420
@ For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * TN B R B FE A AR B 5 IR

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

*%

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments and
other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group. The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, long-term deposits, trade and
bills receivables and other receivables, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit

risk arising from trade receivables and financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables are disclosed in note 24 and

note 25, respectively, to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing

basis.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,

was as follows:

A %5 SR Y =t

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

42, SRIEMEEBEEREE @)

EEmER

ERASEFEENE S EKIE Mt ATE
RO K& E R GRIE R & fh B E FTE £ 8
EERBRNE— P EEBEDFIEERITB
SRR EE 24 R 5 25

RENE & mRR

AEEH B ER AT BRITREAMETER
BB RBELENTE -ReREBT

RHETEE -

AREBERREMRBIRC ATRERITRA K
&R B ERRIHRNT

On  Lessthan 3to 1to5 Over
demand  3months 12months years 5 years Total
BER OWR3fEA 3212(8A 1256 S5FHLE At
31 December 2022 202212 A31H RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TR ARBTR ARMTRT AR®TR ARETR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T RRITER - 49,478 - - - 49,478
Lease liabilities HEAR - 2,724 8,171 1,889 - 12,784
Trade payables 2 SN TR - 100,782 - - - 100,782
Other payables and accruals HipEA AR 250,133 250,802 - - - 500,935

EStER

250,133 403,786 8,171 1,889 - 663,979

TAeRINE D15
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

42,

tREREEEERBE®)

MENE & EbE ()

On Less than 310 Tto5 Over
demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
REXK  AW3EA 3E1REA 185 SEHRLE st
31 December 2021 202112 4318 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SFRBITER - 30,185 12,186 12,863 4,004 59,238
Lease liabilties HEAE - 2517 7738 3510 - 13,765
Trade payables B I EITE - 96,392 = = - 96,392
Other payables and accruals Hi e ZIE R 266,526 325,528 - - - 592,054
EStER

266,526 454622 19,924 16,373 4,004 761,449

Capital management EARER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. Rl MEEEEREE &)

AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, other long-term
payables less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity
attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:

EXREE (4)

AEBUEEABLXRERER - AELR
REFFERARHBEENNERFRE - &
HFEEA BRIT REMENR  HuRH
BNRBERAE MRS EEY - EABES
REHEEANEIEER  RBREHRNEER
BT

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARBTET

Interest-bearing bank and other FTEERIT R E A fE K (FiTE30)

borrowings (note 30) 61,343 68,777
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERBEEEY (446,052) (436,464)
Net debt BIRF R (384,709) (367,687)
Total equity e BRE 986,929 983,105
Gearing ratio BEBBLE N/A FREH N/A 73
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. KA &R &
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the BREAAKNRRRRERROF SR AROER

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: /NN

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FIRBEE
Property and equipment E IS E L] 1 3
Interest in subsidiaries NCRIEEMNEIEOE: £ 296,708 325,881
Total non-current assets IEmBEELE 296,709 325,884
CURRENT ASSETS nEEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIA B B Ath MR IR 351 351
Cash and cash equivalents Re KA EEY 720 4,565
Total current assets MBEERE 1,071 4916
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEfE
Other payables and accruals HAb BT IE R BB 1,956 1,538
Total current liabilities mB B ERRE 1,956 1,538
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS TREY (ﬁﬁ)/ﬁé)‘?ﬁ (885) 3,378
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBERE 295,824 329,262
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTEERTT R EMER - =
Total non-current liabilities EmBEEERE - =
NET ASSETS EEFE 295,824 329,262
EQUITY =
Share capital (note 32) AR A (BifaE32) 7,082 7,082
Other reserves H b i# 288,742 322,180
TOTAL EQUITY A 295,824 329,262
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

44,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A R MY ot

31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 B

43, AR T BEMRRE &)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: M E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RNATHEEBTENT :
Capital Share
Share redemption option  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RPEE EXBERE BRERRG RitEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT AEETT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R20215F1 418 443,187 48 19,879 (118,536) 344,578
Loss for the year FREE = = = (1,066) (1,066)
Transfer of share option reserve upon ARG AR B4R U ok B B s
the forfeiture or expiry of share options EERRREREE = = (19.879) 19879 -
2021 dividend 2021 FRE (21332) = = = (21332)
At 31 December 2021 and 1January 2022 1202112 A31B R
202%F181H 421,855 48 - (99,723) 322,180
Loss for the year FNER = = = (15,569) (15,569)
2022 dividend 202 F RS (17,869) - - - (17,869)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F 128318 403,986 48 - (115,292) 288,742

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 3 to the
financial statements. The amount was transferred to retained profits

when the related options expired after the vesting day.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 31 March 2023.

BRERERBEDREERTRBRENR
EE (N BRI EI BB DR E
ABRCRATE — P RE) - EARBBRER R
BRERIME  ZSBRBARFRN -

44. PR AVALE

BB mREN2023FE3 A3 BREETeHE
T =) 3 o

PRsnsmY )19



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BTS2

For the five years ended 31 December 2022 &(ZE 2022 12 A31 B It AEAFE

Results 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
E4 20184 20195 20204 20015 2022 F
(RMB000) (RMB000) (RMB000) (RMB0O00)  (RMB'000)
(ARETT) (AREFRT) (ARETRE) (ARETRT) (AR%FR)
Revenue zs 1023011 1,519,482 1752317 1873533 1,702,395
Cost of sales SHEKAR (740,906) (1,116,041) (1,310,676) (1440794) (1,345,040
Gross profit ES ] 282,105 403,441 441 641 432,739 357,355
Other income and gains Hi A Rz 30,809 33844 54909 51,088 55,794
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAY (5539) (13455) (12,580) (12,361) (5,014)
Administrative expenses GE (151,065) (192,29) (238401) (227316) (210,135)
Net impairment losses (recognised)/ (BR)/ BEcmEE
reversal on financial assets AR R T8 1672 (26,763) (22,837) (32307) (54,102)
Share of profits and losses of: FEMELA T B KB -
Joint Ventures BEhE 2,895 1438 2,595 2824 3,167
Associates /NG| @ 466 211 1,194 1,309
Other expenses HiAx (1,641) (10,195) (4,855) (18,600) (12,877)
Finance costs BIFERAR (1,833) (21,501) (18,064) (6,378) (2,883)
Profit before tax BRI 157,399 174979 202619 190,883 132,614
Income tax expenses FTEHE X (50,449) (41,059) (51,839) (58,844) (43,564)
Profit for the year EEFE 106,950 133920 150,780 132,039 89,050
Assets and liabilities 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
EEREE 20184 20194 20204 2021 5 2022
(RMB000) (RMB000) (RMB000) (RMB0O0O)  (RMB'000)
(ANRETT) (ARETRT) (ARETR) (ARETRT) (AR%FX)
Non-current assets FERBEE 519,681 751,724 869,159 775,187 687,037
Current assets MEEE 821,538 1,142,902 1200373 1412,29 1,270,083
Total assets BEE 1341219 1,894,626 2,069,532 2,187,483 1,957,120
Current liabilities MEAE 649,974 1019211 1,101,163 1,106,323 939,840
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 85295 137,490 76943 98,055 30,351
Total liabilities BAE 735,269 1,156,701 1,178,106 1204378 970,191
Net assets BEFE 605,950 737,925 891426 983,105 986,929
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